Mesenterial adult stem-like cells as a potential source of germinal and somatic lineages in a sea anemone

Paula Miramón-Puértolas

Thesis for the degree of Philosophiae Doctor (PhD) University of Bergen, Norway 2023



UNIVERSITY OF BERGEN

Mesenterial adult stem-like cells as a potential source of germinal and somatic lineages in a sea anemone

Paula Miramón-Puértolas



Thesis for the degree of Philosophiae Doctor (PhD) at the University of Bergen

Date of defense: 09.06.2023

© Copyright Paula Miramón-Puértolas

The material in this publication is covered by the provisions of the Copyright Act.

Year:	2023
Title:	Mesenterial adult stem-like cells as a potential source of germinal and somatic lineages in a sea anemone
Name:	Paula Miramón-Puértolas
Print:	Skipnes Kommunikasjon / University of Bergen

Scientific environment

The work presented in this thesis was carried out in the research group of Dr. Patrick Steinmetz at the *Michael Sars Centre*, University of Bergen, within the PhD program of the Department of Biology at the Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences. The project was funded by the *Michael Sars Centre* core budget.





UNIVERSITY OF BERGEN Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences

Acknowledgements

First, I would like to thank Patrick for giving me the opportunity to join his group, initially as a Master student and then as a PhD candidate. Thank you for introducing me to the fascinating world of cnidarian science and for allowing me to dive into this exciting and challenging story. I am grateful for all that you have taught me over the years, for showing me how to always aim for excellence, for your patience, and especially for supporting me through the obstacles that life brought. I am proud of us for getting through all the up and downs and for what we have achieved together.

I could not have done this without the daily support of my wonderful labmates, who more than friends have become family. Ragnhild, thank you for always believing in me and lifting me up, you are and will always be an inspiration. Marion, we made this entire journey side by side and have grown together in so many ways, and I am so grateful for it. Thank you for paving the way, for everything you have taught me over these years and for being there when I needed it the most. Kathi, thank you for always supporting me, for your mentoring, for being the best conference partner, for brightening every day in the office and just for being the extraordinary, caring human you are. Mary, thank you for keeping the lab together through all these years, for your help and patience with my questions and requests, and for always listening when I needed it. Eudald, thank you for bringing your enthusiasm and passion to the lab, for always encouraging me and for all the paellas and vermouths. I know that I am leaving the continuation of this project in the best hands and that you will do wonders out of it. Inés, thank you for your daily support, laughs, and for keeping the Spanish in me alive. Your passion, discipline, and confidence are an inspiration. Eilen, thank you so much for keeping our precious animals happy, for your dedication, and especially for your support and all that we have shared in and out of the facility. It was a pleasure to work by your side and getting to know the incredible person you are. Lavina, thank you as well for taking so good care of our animals, for our conversations and for always brightening the facility with your smile. Sharat, thank you for your support through the months we shared as colleagues in the facility, I think we made a good team. Brandon, thank you for your amazing energy and the exceptional care you give to our animals.

I am very grateful for all the students that joined me in my journey, and that pushed me forward: Natascha, Marie, Viola, Tomás, thank you for your efforts and enthusiasm, for your valuable contributions to my research, and for helping me grow as a scientist and as a teacher.

My PhD experience would have not been the same without the people at Sars Centre. To all the past and present Sarsians, thank you for making such a wonderful environment to work in and for building with me a second home. Your kindness, support, scientific enthusiasm, and daily interactions have made this PhD possible.

I would like to thank all the Sars people that, more than colleagues, have become indispensable friends in my life. I am beyond grateful for my Strandgaten family, the people that gave me the warmest welcome to Bergen. Océane, thank you for all that we have shared in and out of the lab, for your guidance, for always being there for me, and for being my partner in crime through many years of conferences and nights out. Carine, thank you for all the memories we have built together, for always listening, for your patience, and indispensable support and kindness. James, thank you for all the adventures we have shared through these years, for memorable trips, conferences, and parties. I am very grateful for your support and mentoring, which have helped me grow as a scientist. Andrea and Clemens, thank you for the time we shared at Strandgaten, for all the laughs and wonderful food we shared. To Aish, thank you so much for all the laughs, complicities and spontaneous adventures that we have shared, and for being the beam of sunshine that you are. Nico, thank you for coloring my life, for believing in me and for your indispensable support through these last years.

I am deeply grateful to Lionel for his generous guidance and mentoring, which were crucial for the successful completion of this thesis. A heartfelt thank you as well to Birthe for always listening and taking care of our wellbeing at Sars. Many thanks to all the admin people for their help and support, especially to Carol, Veronica, Anne and Grethe. Thank you also to Mel for bringing her enthusiasm to the institute and for sharing her expertise with us. Thank you to Sars undergraduate students that, even if briefly, crossed my life and enriched it: Naomi, Milou, Daria and Nadia. Dear Alex, thank you so much for your support and for filling my days with joy and wonder. Thank you for being the kind, curious, passionate person you are and for bringing out the best in me.

También quiero agradecer a las personas que me animaron a emprender este viaje y que, desde lejos, me han apoyado a lo largo de estos años. Alba, gracias por acompañarme y apoyarme en la distancia, por estar allí para mí, y por seguir siendo una amiga indispensable doce años después. María, gracias por tu apoyo, por nuestros encuentros en Barcelona, por compartir conmigo tu camino a pesar de la distancia. Marc, gracias por hacerme crecer como persona y por animarme a seguir mis sueños, no estaría aquí si no fuera por ti. Eura, gracias por enriquecer mi vida y por tu cariño durante los meses más difíciles de este último año. A Leticia y Áurea, quiero agradecerles los años de amistad irremplazables que compartimos, y que forjaron quién soy.

También quiero dar las gracias a Manuel Buil Trigo, quien alimentó mi pasión por la ciencia y la naturaleza durante los años de instituto. Sus clases de biología y botánica dejaron una huella en mí que me sigue acompañando en mi camino.

Quiero dedicar esta tesis a toda mi familia, y en especial a mis padres Maite y Jesús. A mi padre, por avivar mi curiosidad por la naturaleza desde que era una niña y por enseñarme a explorar el mundo que nos rodea. Momentos de tu mano descubriendo huellas de animales en el barro y peces escondidos en las rocas son los que encendieron en mí la llama que me ha llevado hasta aquí. A mi madre, por tu apoyo inestimable, por estar siempre allí cuando te necesito, por enseñarme el valor de la constancia, del trabajo duro y, sobre todo, de la generosidad. Gracias a los dos por animarme a perseguir mis sueños, por muy lejos que me lleven, y por creer en mí siempre.

Para Maite y Jesús

Contents

Abstract		3		
List of pub	lications	7		
Chapter 1: Ceneral introduction 9				
1 54				
1. 516	m ceus constitute the journation of multicellular organisms	9		
2. Th	e germinal potential is set aside for sexual reproduction	10		
2.1.	Traditional postulations on embryonic germline segregation			
2.2.	Post-embryonic segregation and reimagining the germline	12		
2.3.	Germ cells develop and mature during gametogenesis			
2.3.1.	Meiosis produces haploid germ cells			
2.3.2.	Oogenesis	15		
2.3.3.	Spermatogenesis	16		
3. Th	e molecular signature of germline stem cells and primordial stem cells	16		
3.1.	Germ granules: discovery, composition, and function			
3.1.1.	The RNA helicases Vasa and PL10			
3.1.2.	Piwi proteins and Piwi/Tudor complexes	20		
3.2.	Other germline and multipotency markers: nanos, pumilio and bruno	22		
4. The potency of adult stem cells is linked to animal life history traits				
4.1.	Embryonic segregation of the germline and an expiring soma	23		
4.2.	Adult PriSCs as a hallmark for body plasticity across Metazoa			
4.2.1.	Highly regenerative bilaterian organisms present adult PriSCs			
4.2.2.	Adult PriSCs are found in non-bilaterian phyla	27		
4.3.	Cnidarians at the origin and forefront of stem cell research	30		
4.3.1.	Hydrozoan interstitial stem cells are multi- or pluripotent ASCs			
4.3.2.	Stem cells of anthozoan, scyphozoan and staurozoan cnidarians			
5. Th	e sea anemone Nematostella vectensis as a stem cell research organism	34		
5.1.	Biology, reproduction and morphology	35		
5.2.	Stem cell biology in Nematostella vectensis: state-of-the-art			
5.2.1.	Potential PGCs are segregated at the end of larval development			
5.2.2.	Adult stem cells remain elusive in Nematostella			
6. Ai	ns of the study	40		

Chaj	pter 2	2: Summary of the results43
1. ai	A nemo	In adult stem-like cell population contributes to germinal and somatic lineages in the sea ne Nematostella vectensis (Paper I)43
2.	A	Aesentery-enriched single-cell atlas of Nematostella vectensis uncovers complex cell
С	ompo	sition and a stem-like cell population (Paper II)44
3.	A	dditional results47
Chaj	pter :	3: Discussion48
1.	A	n adult stem-like cell population with germinal and somatic potential in Nematostella.48
	1.1.	Adult Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells present conserved stem cell features
	1.2.	The Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cell population consists of stem cells and oogonia
	1.3.	The progeny of the Vasa2+/Piwi1+ adult stem-like cell population comprises germinal
	and	somatic lineages
	1.3.	1. The germinal progeny
	1.3.	2. The somatic progeny comprises a diversity of progenitors
	1.3.	3. Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cells at the origin of post-larval neurogenesis
	1.3.4	4. The source of epidermal cells in <i>Nematostella</i>
	1.4.	Potential roles during growth, homeostasis and regeneration59
2.	A	dult stem cells with germ/soma potential are likely an ancestral trait of cnidarians61
	2.1.	Adult stem cells are poorly characterized in other anthozoan cnidarians
	2.2.	Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cells in Nematostella are likely homologous to hydrozoan
	inte	rstitial stem cells
3.	1	The evolution of adult stem cells and body plasticity in animals
4.	L	essons from animal adult stem cells and potential applications65
Bibl	iogra	phy67
Ann	ex: P	apers I and II

Abstract

Adult stem cells (ASCs) sustain growth and homeostasis throughout the lifetime of animals by continuously supplying new cells to the organism. ASCs have been well characterized in vertebrate, nematode and insect models, which present tissue-specific stem cell populations with lineage-restricted potentials (e.g. intestinal, hematopoietic, neuronal, epithelial, germinal stem cells). In these organisms, the separation of germline stem cells from somatic lineages is a key step during embryonic development, which has long been thought to be common among metazoans. However, studies on a few other bilaterian and non-bilaterian model organisms have revealed the presence of ASCs bearing both germinal and somatic potentials throughout the lifetime of the organism (e.g. neoblasts in planarians, interstitial stem cells in hydrozoan cnidarians). The lack of data on ASCs from most animal phyla however hampers our understanding of the evolution of animal stem cells and germline segregation. Within cnidarians, ASCs have so far only been characterized in hydrozoan cnidarians, which present plurior multipotent interstitial stem cells (i.e. i-cells) that give rise to neurons, gland cells, cnidocytes and gametes. A longstanding question is whether i-cells are a hydrozoanspecific trait or ancestral to cnidarians. In my thesis, I aim to contribute to our understanding of cnidarian and animal stem cell evolution by identifying and characterizing ASCs in an anthozoan cnidarian, the sea anemone Nematostella vectensis. To find ASCs in Nematostella, I investigated the spatial expression of conserved germline and multipotency marker gene orthologs (e.g. piwi, vasa) in juvenile and adult polyps, and performed lineage tracing and single-cell RNA sequencing (scRNA-seq) to unveil their molecular profiles and potentials.

By combining and analysing Vasa2 immunostaining with *vasa2* and *piwi1* transgenic reporter lines in juveniles and adults, I characterized a population of mesenterial, extragonadal Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cells and their gonadal Vasa2+/Piwi1+ germinal progeny. Strikingly, I found that Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cells also give rise to abundant, gastrodermal somatic progeny cells, partially consisting of soxB(2)expressing neuronal progenitor cells. Using scRNA-seq on tissue-enriched samples, I was able to identify cell clusters with partially overlapping expression profiles corresponding to (1) the mesenterial Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cell population, (2) meiotic oogonia, (3) cells in M-phase, (4) soxB(2)+ neural progenitors and (5) cnidoglandular tract progenitor cells.

Altogether, my results suggest that the mesenterial Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cell population consists of multipotent ASCs with both germinal and somatic (incl. neuronal) potential. As such cells likely contribute to growth, tissue homeostasis and reproduction during juvenile and adult stages in *Nematostella* polyps, my thesis opens the door to a better characterisation of the cellular processes underlying whole-body regeneration, asexual reproduction, and body size plasticity in cnidarians. The shared potential, expression of genetic markers and cellular features with hydrozoan i-cells lead us to propose that Vasa2+/Piwi1+ ASCs with mixed germinal and somatic potential are an ancestral trait of cnidarians.

Abstrakt

Adulte stamceller (ASC) opprettholder vekst og homeostase gjennom hele livet til dyr ved kontinuerlig å tilføre nye celler til organismen. ASC-er har blitt godt karakterisert i vertebrat-, nematode- og insektmodeller, som presenterer vevsspesifikke stamcellepopulasjoner med avstamningsbegrenset potensial (f.eks. intestinale, hematopoetiske, nevronale, epiteliale, germinale stamceller). I disse organismene er separasjonen av kimstamceller fra somatiske linjer et nøkkeltrinn under embryonal utvikling, som lenge har vært antatt å være vanlig blant metazoer. Imidlertid har studier på noen få andre bilateriske og ikke-bilateriske modellorganismer avslørt tilstedeværelsen av ASC-er som bærer både germinalt og somatisk potensial gjennom hele organismens levetid (f.eks. neoblaster i planarier, interstitielle stamceller i hydrozoiske cnidarier) Mangelen på data om ASC-er fra de fleste dyrefyla hemmer imidlertid vår forståelse av utviklingen av dyrestamceller og kimlinjesegregering. Innenfor cnidarier har ASC så langt bare blitt karakterisert i hydroziske cnidarier, som presenterer pluri- eller multipotente interstitielle stamceller (dvs. i-celler) som gir opphav til nevroner, kjertelceller, cnidocytter og gameter. Et langvarig spørsmål er om i-celler er en hydrozoa-spesifikk egenskap eller fra forfedre til cnidaria. I oppgaven min har jeg som mål å bidra til vår forståelse av utviklingen av cnidaria og dyrestamceller ved å identifisere og karakterisere ASCs i en antozoisk cnidarie, sjøanemonen Nematostella vectensis. For å finne ASC-er i Nematostella, undersøkte jeg det romlige uttrykket av konserverte markørgener for kimlinje- og multipotens ortologer (f.eks. piwi, vasa) i juvenile og voksne polypper, og utførte avstamningssporing og enkeltcellet RNA-sekvensering (scRNA-seq) for å avdekke deres molekylære profiler og potensialer.

Ved å kombinere og analysere Vasa2 immunfarging med *vasa2* og *piwi1* transgene reporterlinjer i unge og voksne, karakteriserte jeg en populasjon av mesenteriale, ekstragonadale Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stam-lignende celler og deres gonadale Vasa2+/Piwi1+ germinal avkom. Påfallende nok fant jeg også at Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stam-lignende celler gir opphav til rikelig med gastrodermale celler av somatiske avstamning, delvis bestående av soxB(2)-uttrykke neuronale stamceller. Ved å bruke scRNA-seq på

vevsanrikede prøver, var jeg i stand til å identifisere celleklynger med delvis overlappende ekspresjonsprofiler tilsvarende (1) mesenterial Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stamlignende cellepopulasjon, (2) meiotisk oogonia, (3) celler i M -fase, (4) soxB(2)+ nevrale forløpere og (5) cnido-glandulære traktat-forløpere.

Til sammen antyder resultatene mine at den mesenteriale Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stamlignende celle-populasjonen består av multipotente ASC-er med både germinalt og somatisk (inkl. neuronalt) potensial. Siden slike celler sannsynligvis bidrar til vekst, vevs-homeostase og reproduksjon under unge og voksenstadier i Nematostellapolypper, åpner oppgaven min for en bedre karakterisering av de cellulære prosessene som ligger til grunn for helkropps-regenerering, aseksuell reproduksjon og plastisitet i kroppsstørrelse hos cnidarier. Det delte potensialet, uttrykket av genetiske markørene og cellulære funksjonene med hydrozoa i-celler, fører oss til å foreslå at Vasa2+/Piwi1+ ASC-er med blandet germinalt og somatisk potensiale er en egenskap fra forfedre for cnidarier.

List of publications

Paper I

Miramón-Puértolas, P., Steinmetz, P.R.H. (in preparation). An adult stem-like cell population contributes to germinal and somatic lineages in the sea anemone *Nematostella vectensis*.

Paper II

Miramón-Puértolas, P., Lebouvier, M., Saudemont, B., Loe-Mie, Y., Plessier, F., Marlow, H., Steinmetz, P.R.H. (in preparation). Mesentery-enriched single-cell atlas of *Nematostella vectensis* uncovers complex cell composition and a stem-like cell population.

Chapter 1: General introduction

1. Stem cells constitute the foundation of multicellular organisms

Stem cells are undifferentiated or, in rare cases, differentiated cells (e.g. *Hydra* epidermal stem cells) that have the unique ability to self-renew and give rise to progenitor cells that will divide and differentiate into new, functionally mature cells. The presence of stem cells is a universal trait among multicellular organisms (e.g. animals, plants, fungi).





In animals, stem cells have been described as small and round with a high nuclear to cytoplasmic ratio, a prominent nucleolus and a high ribosomal content (Gupta and Santoro, 2020; Han et al., 2020; Zakrzewski et al., 2019). Stem cells are classified according to their potential, which depends on the diversity of differentiated cell types that they can give rise to (Figure 1). The highest level of potency, totipotency, is held

by the zygote, which can differentiate into embryonic and extra-embryonic tissues (if existing). Embryonic stem cells (ESCs) are considered pluripotent, as they can give rise to all the germ cell layers of the embryo (i.e. all cell types of the organism) but not to extra-embryonic tissues. When extra-embryonic tissues are missing, pluripotency and totipotency are thus used synonymously. Multipotent stem cells can give rise to a limited range of cell types, often connected by lineage (e.g. hematopoietic stem cells, neural stem cells). Finally, unipotent stem cells can give rise to a single cell type (e.g. epithelial stem cells, germline stem cells).

Stem cells play a crucial role during embryonic development as new organs and tissues form. Certain populations of stem cells are retained after embryogenesis or larval development (if present) and are commonly referred to as "adult stem cells" (ASCs) (Zakrzewski et al., 2019). While named "adult", these stem cells are defined as being found not only at adult but also at juvenile life stages and constitute a main source for growth, regeneration and tissue homeostasis (Clevers and Watt, 2018; Wagers and Weissman, 2004). In vertebrates, insects and nematodes, ASCs are often found in relatively small numbers in a well-defined niche, which is a microenvironment that tightly regulates and maintains their stemness (Drummond-Barbosa, 2008; Ferraro et al., 2010). Other animals, such as planarians, acoels, sponges and cnidarians, present more abundant ASCs that seem to lack a defined niche (Bosch et al., 2010; Martinez et al., 2022; Rossi and Salvetti, 2019).

A stem cell divides asymmetrically, generating a daughter cell that retains the ability to self-renew and a more committed progenitor cell that can be multipotent or unipotent (**Figure 1**). Progenitor cells cannot self-renew, performing a finite number of divisions usually accompanied by a progressive reduction of their potential. While proliferating, progenitor cells migrate into a tissue where they will eventually differentiate into defined cell types. By dividing, progenitor cells amplify cell numbers and are thus also called transit-amplifying cells (TAC) (**Figure 1**) (Hsu et al., 2014).

2. The germinal potential is set aside for sexual reproduction

Multicellular organisms specify a set of cells known as germ cells or gametes (eggs in

females and sperm in males) that will carry the heritable information to the next generation. The germline, the cell lineage giving rise to gametes, derives from unipotent germline stem cells (GSCs) (Lehmann, 2012) (Figure 1). During sexual reproduction, gametes fuse at fertilization to generate a totipotent zygote that develops into a new organism. The potential of GSCs to generate a whole new organism is preserved by repressing somatic differentiation (Strome and Updike, 2015). This idea was already born in 1892, when August Weismann hypothesized that germline cells, as carriers of the hereditable information, must contain a unique set of determinants (i.e. the "germ plasm") absent in somatic lineages (Weismann, 1892). According to Weismann these determinants are carried by the germline and transferred to the zygote, and again to the germline of the next generation in a continuous manner. In his germ plasm theory, Weismann defined thus a physical barrier between the soma and the germline, in which the germline can give rise to all somatic cell types through fertilization, but somatic lineages cannot give rise to the germline. According to his theory, the genetic information carried by the germline cannot be altered by somatically acquired mutations.

2.1. Traditional postulations on embryonic germline segregation

Weismann's hypothesis was confirmed by the discovery of molecular determinants directly transferred from the egg to the germline of the embryo in chrysomelid beetles (Hegner, 1908; Hegner, 1914). This mode of germline segregation, named preformation (Figure 2A), has since been found and described in detail in many genetic model organisms, for example *D. melanogaster*, *C. elegans* and *X. laevis* (Extavour and Akam, 2003; Sagata et al., 1981; Strome and Updike, 2015; Williamson and Lehmann, 1996; Wolf et al., 1983). In these animals, the egg carries maternal determinants that are asymmetrically distributed during early cleavages and transferred to a set of early ESCs, called primordial germ cells (PGCs), which will acquire germline identity. During embryonic development, these PGCs migrate to the emerging gonad and establish a population of GSCs (Richardson and Lehmann, 2010). ESCs not receiving maternal determinants acquire restricted, somatic fate and give rise to the diverse somatic lineages composing the organism. Mammalian embryos display

a different mode of segregation called epigenesis, during which a subset of ESCs, considered somatic stem cells, are induced by neighbouring cells to become PGCs at perigastrulation stage (Figure 2B) (Ewen-Campen et al., 2010; Seervai and Wessel, 2013; Tang et al., 2016). Therefore, the epigenetic segregation of the germline breaks the continuity of the germline and its determinants, contradicting the germ plasm theory. For this reason, Weismann's theory has been for many years a subject of controversy (Extavour and Akam, 2003; MacCord and Duygu Ozpolat, 2019; Raz and Yamashita, 2021; Solana, 2013).

During the XXth century, most genetic model organisms (e.g. insects, nematodes, vertebrates) were shown to segregate the germline during embryogenesis, whether it was by preformation or epigenesis. Thus, embryonic germline segregation was assumed to be a key step during animal embryonic development. It was only when organisms such as planarians, acoels, hydrozoan cnidarians and sponges were put in the spotlight that instances of post-embryonic germline segregation were found, leading to a revision of the germline concept.

2.2. Post-embryonic segregation and reimagining the germline

In recent years, diverse bilaterian and non-bilaterian animals have been found to show post-embryonic segregation of the germline (e.g. acoels, planarians, cnidarians, sponges). In these animals, ASCs traditionally considered of somatic nature, give rise not only to somatic lineages but also to the germline (Figure 2C). Increasing evidence for the presence of germ plasm determinants in ASCs has led to question their presumed somatic identity and to reconsider the germline concept, resulting in the primordial stem cell hypothesis (Solana, 2013). This hypothesis presents a concept of the germline that includes stem cells with not only germinal but also somatic potential, namely primordial stem cells (PriSCs). According to this hypothesis, PriSCs are conserved across the animal tree, share a set of genetic determinants (the "germ plasm") and are set aside during embryogenesis in all animals. In the case of embryonic germline segregation by preformation, PriSCs are considered as transient and quickly restrict to become PGCs early during embryogenesis (Figure 2D; e.g. *D. melanogaster, C. elegans*). In the case of embryonic segregation by epigenesis, mammalian ESCs



Figure 2. Redefining the germline concept: the primordial stem cell hypothesis. Table illustrating the modes of embryonic and postembryonic germline segregation from the traditional point of view (A-C) and according to the primordial stem cell hypothesis (D-F) (Solana 2013). Cells giving rise to the germline during epigenetic embryonic segregation and post-embryonic segregation are not somatic stem cells as raditionally assumed, but primordial stem cells (PriSCs) holding germinal and somatic potential. Schematics based on Solana 2013, traditionally thought to be of somatic nature, such as the inner cell mass (ICM), present certain germline genetic determinants before being induced to become PGCs. Thus, the ICM can be considered as PriSCs, a subset of which become restricted to the germline by inductive signals during embryogenesis (**Figure 2E**). In the case of post-embryonic germline segregation, PriSCs are also set aside by preformation or epigenesis during embryogenesis but retain dual germ/soma potential throughout the lifetime of the organism (**Figure 2F**). Examples of adult PriSCs (i.e. ASCs with germ/soma potential) are planarian and acoel neoblasts, hydrozoan i-cells and sponge choanocytes and archaeocytes (Bode, 1996; Funayama, 2013; Srivastava et al., 2014; Wagner et al., 2011). The conceptualization of PriSCs keeps the continuity of the germline intact through generations, reconciliating the germ plasm theory of Weismann with the different modes of germline segregation described in animals.

2.3. Germ cells develop and mature during gametogenesis

After germline segregation takes place, PGCs must find their way into the gonad, the tissue providing the right environment for GSCs to settle and for gametogenesis to take place. Gametogenesis is the process during which GSCs give rise to haploid, mature eggs during oogenesis or sperm cells during spermatogenesis. GSCs asymmetrically divide and give rise to new GSCs and progenitor cells (i.e. oogonia or spermatogonia), which will mitotically divide a limited number of times and eventually start to differentiate into gametes (Figure 3).

2.3.1. Meiosis produces haploid germ cells

The first step during gamete differentiation is meiosis, a process of cell division that produces haploid germ cells. Meiosis encompasses two cycles of cell division: during meiosis I homologous chromosomes segregate and in meiosis II sister chromatids are separated (Figure 3) (Page and Hawley, 2003). An important process of meiosis I is the recombination between homologous chromosomes, which generates new allele combinations. Recombination takes place during prophase I thanks to the assembly of the synaptonemal complex and other molecular mechanisms highly conserved among eukaryotes (Jessus et al., 2020; Lenormand et al., 2016; Ramesh et al., 2005).



Figure 3. The cellular lineages of female and male gametogenesis. Schematic depicting oogenesis and spermatogenesis, exemplified as in an oviparous vertebrate species (e.g. *Xenopus*) whose oocytes undergo vitellogenesis while arrested in prophase I and stay in metaphase II arrest until fertilization. 2n: diploid; n: haploid.

2.3.2. Oogenesis

When an oogonium starts meiosis, it is called a primary oocyte. One of the key steps in oogenesis across animals is the prophase I arrest at diplotene stage, when the synaptonemal complex disassembles and homologous chromosomes start to separate, remaining linked only by chiasmata (Jessus et al., 2020; Page and Hawley, 2003). In humans, oocytes remain arrested until reaching puberty, when one oocyte resumes meiosis in each menstrual cycle in a process called oocyte maturation (Figure 3). In oviparous species, oocytes undergo vitellogenesis during meiotic arrest, accumulating reserves for the zygote in their cytoplasm until a certain size is reached and meiosis resumes. Oocytes produce and discard one polar body containing half of the genetic content and very little cytoplasm after each meiotic cell division (Figure 3). Mature eggs are released during ovulation. In vertebrates, mature eggs are often arrested at metaphase II and only complete meiosis II upon fertilization, releasing a second polar body (Figure 3). While meiotic arrest is a highly conserved aspect of oogenesis, the mechanisms that regulate arrest maintenance, oocyte growth and maturation vary considerably between species (Jessus et al., 2020). Oogenesis takes place in the female gonad (i.e. ovary), which is often composed of somatic cells that support oocyte growth (i.e. nurse cells) and gland cells that regulate oocyte maturation and ovulation by secreting hormones (Haccard and Jessus, 2006; Jessus et al., 2020).

2.3.3. Spermatogenesis

During vertebrate spermatogenesis, adult GSCs are known as spermatogonia type A, which self-renew and give rise to spermatogonia type B, which mitotically divide until generating primary spermatocytes that undergo meiosis (Figure 3). In adult males, meiosis is not arrested and produces four mature sperm cells at every meiotic event. In some species, such as humans, the cell cycle of spermatogonia type A and B is paused until reaching puberty, when cell division resumes. Spermatogenesis takes place in the testes or spermaries, the male gonads, which can vary in complexity among species but usually present a sack-like or tubular shape, with spermatogonia localizing in the periphery and the maturation process taking place towards the centre, where mature spermatids are found (Fritz, 1986; Leonard and Cordoba-Aguilar, 2011).

3. The molecular signature of germline stem cells and primordial stem cells

Gene expression and functional studies have revealed a set of highly conserved genetic markers which are consistently enriched and required in PGCs, GSCs and PriSCs across the animal tree (Alié et al., 2015; Ewen-Campen et al., 2010; Fierro-Constaín et al., 2017; Juliano et al., 2010; Rinkevich et al., 2022). This gene set, comprising *vasa*, *pl10*, *piwi*, *tudor*, *nanos*, *pumilio* and *bruno* genes, has been proposed as "germline multipotency program" (GMP) to maintain stemness in these cells (Fierro-Constaín et al., 2017; Juliano et al., 2011). A subset of GMP genes consisting of *vasa*, *pl10*, *piwi* and *tudor* encode for proteins that aggregate in granules around the nucleus of PGCs, GSCs and PriSCs (Gao and Arkov, 2013). Long before their molecular composition was elucidated, the presence of such granules was discovered in the germline of insects

(Hegner, 1908; Mahowald, 1962), being the first experimental evidence supporting the existence of a "germ plasm" as hypothesized by Weismann (Weismann, 1892).

3.1. Germ granules: discovery, composition, and function

Germ granules were discovered in 1914 as strongly stained granular inclusions in the cytoplasm of chrysomelid beetle eggs, locating to the posterior pole and being directly transferred into early germ cells (Hegner, 1908; Hegner, 1911; Hegner, 1914). Removing such granules led to the absence of germ cells in the embryos and thus it was assumed that they contained germ cell determinants (Hegner, 1908). Electron microscopy revealed that the granular inclusions consisted of aggregates of electrondense fibrils (also termed *nuage*) associated with the cytoplasmic side of the nuclear membrane (André and Rouiller, 1956; Eddy, 1974). These aggregates were discovered simultaneously in different species and contexts, which lead to the coining of different terms: polar granules at the posterior egg pole of several Drosophila species (Mahowald, 1962; Mahowald, 1968; Mahowald, 1971a; Mahowald, 1971b), cortical granules in amphibian eggs (Balinsky, 1966; Eddy and Ito, 1971; Kotani et al., 1973; Williams and Smith, 1971), *nuage* in spider eggs (André and Rouiller, 1956) and rat embryos (Eddy, 1974), P-granules in the C. elegans embryonic P-lineage (Wolf et al., 1983), and the chromatoid body in mammalian post-meiotic spermatids (Brunn, 1876; Burgos and Fawcett, 1955; Parvinen, 2005; Söderström, 1981). For clarity, I will employ the term 'germ granules' for these aggregates throughout this work.

The size of the granules varies between organisms (up to 1µm), while their electrondense fibrils have a rather conserved diameter of 10-15nm. The composition of germ granules has been thoroughly dissected in several model organisms (reviewed in Gao and Arkov, 2013). They consist of one of several types of ribonucleoprotein (RNP) complexes (e.g. stress granules) that can be found in the cytoplasm. The RNA components are mRNAs, non-coding RNAs such as Piwi-interacting RNAs (piRNAs), and mitochondrial ribosomal RNAs. Among the proteins, some components conserved across animals include Piwi family proteins, Tudor domain-containing proteins, and RNA helicases such as Vasa and PL10 proteins (Gao and Arkov, 2013). Germ granules are not only found on the nuclear envelope but often appear in association with highly dynamic, transient organelle aggregates called the "mitochondrial cloud" or Balbiani body (Bb), composed of thousands of mitochondria and sometimes comprising Golgi, endoplasmic reticulum (ER) cisternae and centrioles (Kloc et al., 2014; Meikar et al., 2014). The Bb has been described during gametogenesis in oocytes and post-mitotic spermatids of many animals, including *Xenopus*, zebrafish, mammals and a diversity of arthropods (Kloc et al., 2004; Kotaja and Sassone-Corsi, 2007; Meikar et al., 2011; Pepling et al., 2007). These aggregates show a great divergence in their morphology, cell location and dynamics even within closely related species. Their detailed functions and assembly mechanisms remain poorly understood.

While traditionally linked to PGCs and GSCs, there is increasing evidence for the presence of perinuclear germ granules also in adult PriSCs such as hydrozoan i-cells (Noda and Kanai, 1977) and planarian neoblasts (Hori, 1982). The study of the molecular composition of germ granules in different animals has confirmed that they are indeed a conserved feature of stem cells holding germinal potential (i.e. PriSCs, PGCs and GSCs) across Metazoa (Juliano et al., 2010; Solana, 2013; van Wolfswinkel, 2014).

3.1.1. The RNA helicases Vasa and PL10

RNP complexes are dynamic and in constant remodelling due to the presence of RNA helicases, which unwind double-stranded RNAs in an ATP-dependent way. Vasa and PL10 belong to the DEAD-box (Asp-Glu-Ala-Asp) protein family, characterized by nine conserved sequence motifs important for the ATP-dependant catalytic activity of the helicase (Linder and Jankowsky, 2011; Linder and Lasko, 2006). The DEAD box family of RNA helicases presents a very ancient lineage, with members found in all eukaryotic cells, many bacteria and even archaea, where they are required for RNA metabolism and gene expression control (Linder and Jankowsky, 2011).

The RNA helicase Vasa is only found in metazoans, where it is a highly conserved germ granule component and plays a crucial role in GSC maintenance and gametogenesis (Extavour, 2005; Fabioux et al., 2004; Hartung et al., 2014; Hay et al., 1988; Qiu et al., 2013; Raz, 2000; Rosner et al., 2009; Roussell and Bennett, 1992; Shimaoka et al., 2017; Spike et al., 2008). Its relevance for germ cell determination varies depending on the species and sex. In *D. melanogaster*, Vasa is necessary for female germ cell specification and oocyte development but not for spermatogenesis (Styhler et al., 1998). In mice, Vasa is required for male, but not female fertility (Tanaka et al., 2000). Vasa is also enriched in adult PriSCs such as planarian neoblasts and hydrozoan i-cells (Mochizuki et al., 2001; Rebscher et al., 2008; Wagner et al., 2012). It plays important roles during embryonic and post-embryonic development, acting for instance as a mitotic regulator during early cleavages in sea urchins and spiders (Gustafson and Wessel, 2010; Schwager et al., 2015; Yajima and Wessel, 2015).

There is little data on the molecular mechanisms underlying the functions of Vasa across species. Studies in *D. melanogaster* have shown that Vasa can bind the eukaryotic initiation factor 5B (eIF5B), which recruits the 60S ribosomal subunit for translational initiation of maternal transcripts. In addition, it specifically binds and promotes the translation of mRNAs such as *mei-P26*, whose protein product represses certain miRNAs in order to promote germ cell identity (Johnstone and Lasko, 2004; Liu et al., 2009). These observations suggest that Vasa acts as a translational regulator of certain mRNAs by shaping their secondary structures and facilitating their interaction with accessory proteins (Styhler et al., 1998). Vasa is subject to strong post-translational regulation leading to big variances of cellular mRNA and protein levels (Yajima and Wessel, 2015).

PL10 helicases are considered to have an earlier evolutionary origin than Vasa, as PL10 orthologs can be found in a wide range of eukaryotes, including fungi, plants and animals (Chang and Liu, 2010; Linder and Jankowsky, 2011). Some species possess several PL10 homologues, which can show ubiquitous or exclusively germinal expression. PL10 orthologs have been described to play important roles in cell cycle regulation, differentiation, survival and apoptosis (Sharma and Jankowsky, 2014). They are not only required in the germline but also in adult PriSCs (Mochizuki et al.,

2001; Shibata et al., 1999; Solana and Romero, 2009) and in somatic lineages such as the neural crest (Perfetto et al., 2021). It has been hypothesised that Vasa helicases derive from a PL10-related gene that restricted its expression and function to the germline.

3.1.2. Piwi proteins and Piwi/Tudor complexes

Piwi proteins are part of the PIWI subfamily, which together with the AGO subfamily belong to the evolutionary conserved Argonaute/PIWI protein family. While the AGO subfamily is found in fungi and plants, PIWI subfamilies are likely restricted to animals (Mochizuki et al., 2002). Thus, while the origin of the AGO protein family likely predates the evolution of multicellularity, the PIWI subfamily is considered a metazoan innovation (Alié et al., 2015; Kerner et al., 2011).

Piwi and Ago proteins share a conserved PAZ domain near the N-terminal, which binds small noncoding RNAs (ncRNAs), and a C-terminal PIWI domain, which presents cleaving activity. ncRNAs guide Ago/Piwi-containing protein complexes to RNA target sites to regulate gene expression. While Ago proteins bind microRNAs (miRNAs) and small interfering RNAs (siRNAs), Piwi proteins bind PIWI-interacting RNAs (piRNAs). piRNAs measure 24-32 nucleotides and derive from long singlestranded RNA precursors encoded by intergenic regions containing repetitive and transposable elements (Juliano et al., 2011; Thomson and Lin, 2009). Across metazoans, piRNAs are consistently enriched for transposon sequences (van Wolfswinkel, 2014). By binding Piwi proteins, piRNAs guide Piwi-containing complexes to target transposon mRNAs, which are cleaved by the Piwi endonuclease activity. In addition, complementary Piwi processing of the cleaved products leads to a ping-pong cycle that amplifies the piRNAs (Figure 4) (Czech and Hannon, 2016). Thus, Piwi proteins play a key role in protecting the nuclear genome through transposon silencing. Indeed, Piwi depletion leads to an increase in transposon mRNA expression (Li et al., 2021; Tóth et al., 2016).

The expression and intracellular location of *piwi* mRNAs are evolutionarily conserved among animals. *piwi* mRNA is consistently found in the germ granules of PriSCs,

GSCs, and developing gametes of *D. melanogaster*, zebrafish, *C. elegans*, mice, colonial ascidians, acoels, planarians, hydrozoan cnidarians, sponges and ctenophores (Juliano et al., 2011; van Wolfswinkel, 2014). Functional analyses have revealed the importance of Piwi proteins for GSC maintenance in males and females of *D. melanogaster* and *C. elegans* (Cox et al., 1998; Gonzalez et al., 2021; Megosh et al., 2006), while in mice Piwi is required for proper spermatogenesis (Kuramochi-Miyagawa et al., 2004). Piwi plays a key role in the maintenance of planarian neoblasts and colonial ascidian hemoblasts, and it is important for their role in regeneration (Kawamura and Sunanaga, 2011; Palakodeti et al., 2008; Reddien et al., 2005; Sunanaga et al., 2010). Altogether, Piwi proteins play a conserved key role in stem cell maintenance, germline determination and gametogenesis, which are processes that require transposon silencing to ensure genome integrity (Tóth et al., 2016; van Wolfswinkel, 2014). In addition to their function in transposon silencing, piRNAs also map to mRNAs (e.g. *nanos*) to facilitate Piwi-mediated post-transcriptional regulation (Collins and Penny, 2009; Rouget et al., 2010).



Figure 4. The role of germ granules in transposon silencing. Schematic of a close-up of the nuclear membrane of a stem cell, depicting a nuclear pore and an associated germ granule. The germ granule contains a protein complex composed of Vasa, Tudor and Piwi, which captures piRNAs coming from the nucleus. Piwi binds to piRNAs, which guide the complex to target RNA sequences (e.g. transposons) that are subsequently cleaved by Piwi. The cleaved product is used by Piwi as a guide to cleave piRNA precursors and generate new piRNAs, and so a 'ping-pong cycle' of piRNA amplification starts, resulting in effective transposon silencing. Adapted from Lin, 2012; van Wolfswinkel, 2014.

Piwi-piRNA complexes also play a role in somatic stem cells, where they are expressed at lower levels than in germline precursor cells (Ross et al., 2014). *piwi* orthologs are expressed for example in epithelial stem cells in *Hydra* (Juliano et al., 2014; Teefy et al., 2019) and in human hematopoietic stem cells (Sharma et al., 2001). Thus, Piwi proteins are expressed not only in PriSCs and GSCs but also in somatic stem cells, drawing a link between Piwi and cell potency (Li et al., 2021; Ross et al., 2014; van Wolfswinkel, 2014). Interestingly, *piwi* orthologs have also been shown to be expressed and required in certain differentiated cell types, such as neurons in the central nervous system of mice (Kim, 2019; Lee et al., 2011; Zhao et al., 2015).

Piwi proteins form complexes with Tudor domain-containing proteins, which bind to demethylated arginine residues at the N-terminus of Piwi and Vasa proteins. Multiple Tudor domains are usually found in the same protein. They are thought to act as scaffolding for germ granule assembly while regulating the identity of the piRNAs that Piwi proteins bind (Figure 4) (Huang et al., 2011; Mathioudakis et al., 2012; Vasileva et al., 2009). Piwi-Tudor complexes associate closely to the exterior of nuclear pores (Figure 4). There, with the help of the nuclear helicase UAP56, Vasa transfers newly synthetized piRNAs from the nucleus to Piwi proteins, facilitating clamping and amplification of cytoplasmic piRNAs in the ping-pong cycle (Lin, 2012; Xiol et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2012). Tudor domain-containing proteins have been consistently found in animal germ granules and, similarly to Vasa and Piwi, are required for GSC maintenance in *D. melanogaster* and for spermatogenesis in mice (Kirino et al., 2010; Kuramochi-Miyagawa et al., 2004; Megosh et al., 2006).

3.2. Other germline and multipotency markers: nanos, pumilio and bruno

The *nanos* gene encodes for another well characterized GMP component. Nanos functions as a transcriptional and translational repressor characterized by zinc-finger motifs. Its orthologs are found in all studied animal species (De Keuckelaere et al., 2018). Nanos has been strongly associated to PGC and GSC maintenance, but is also required to prevent stem cell differentiation during embryonic, larval and somatic development (Extavour and Akam, 2003; Mochizuki et al., 2000; Rinkevich et al., 2022; Wang and Lin, 2004). It forms complexes with the RNA-binding protein

Pumilio, another GMP component, to repress target mRNAs involved in gametogenesis and somatic differentiation and is thus important to maintain stemness (Kadyrova et al., 2007; Nakahata et al., 2001; Parisi and Lin, 1999; Salvetti et al., 2005; Sonoda and Wharton, 1999; Weidmann et al., 2016; Wharton et al., 1998). The requirement of *pumilio* in somatic stem cell maintenance has been characterized for neural and hematopoietic stem cells in mammals (Spassov and Jurecic, 2003; Yang et al., 2004; Zahr et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2017).

The Bruno-like family consists of proteins containing RNA-recognition motifs (RRM), found in plants and animals, which repress target mRNAs by binding specific Bruno response elements (BRE) sequences (Chekulaeva et al., 2006; Good et al., 2000). They are expressed in *Drosophila* germ cells, planarian neoblasts, diverse embryonic and post-embryonic tissues of vertebrates and in ctenophore stem cells (Alié et al., 2011; Barreau et al., 2006; Good et al., 2000; Guo et al., 2006). Functions associated to Bruno proteins are also varied, and include germ cell development, stem cell maintenance, pre-mRNA processing and synaptic vesicle release (Barreau et al., 2006; Chekulaeva et al., 2006; Guo et al., 2006; Suzuki et al., 2002). In the zebrafish embryo, *bruno* mRNA has been described to localize in the *nuage* during early cleavage stages (Hashimoto et al., 2006).

4. The potency of adult stem cells is linked to animal life history traits

Embryonic and adult PriSCs, PGCs, GSCs and other stem cells across metazoans share highly conserved molecular and cellular signatures. Yet, the biology of animal stem cells exhibits key differences between species as shown by their diverse modes of germline segregation, reproduction, and regenerative potential. Stem cells have evolved in each lineage to adapt and achieve top fitness according to the species' lifestyle and environment.

4.1. Embryonic segregation of the germline and an expiring soma

Extensive studies have characterized germline segregation and ASCs in a diversity of vertebrate model organisms, all of which perform embryonic germline segregation either by preformation (e.g. zebrafish, chick and *Xenopus*) or epigenesis (e.g. axolotl

and mammals) (Extavour and Akam, 2003; Wen and Tang, 2019). Once PGCs are segregated, somatic ESCs gradually reduce their potential as they divide and become restricted to a specific germ layer and cell lineage, while organizing into organ primordia (Kallos, 2011). After embryogenesis, stem cell niches sustain populations of somatic ASCs (e.g. hematopoietic, intestinal, mesenchymal, epithelial) throughout the lifetime of the organism (Ferraro et al., 2010).

Among ecdysozoans (e.g. arthropods, nematodes), clear examples of embryonic germline segregation by preformation are found in well-researched model organisms such as *D. melanogaster* and *C. elegans*, as well as in crustaceans (e.g. amphipods and decapods) (Extavour, 2005; Qiu et al., 2013). Among arthropods, germline segregation by epigenesis has been described in honeybees, beetles (e.g. *Tribolium*), moths and butterflies, myriapods and chelicerates (Quan and Lynch, 2016). So far, all investigated ecdysozoans models display embryonic germline segregation, with separate GSCs and somatic, lineage-restricted ASCs (e.g. neuronal, intestinal) present after embryogenesis, as also found in vertebrate models.

The limited potential of ASCs in ecdysozoans and vertebrates is likely the basis of their limited body plasticity and the limited or absent potential to regenerate body parts in these animals (e.g. limb regeneration in arthropods and axolotl) (Figure 5) (Anderson et al., 2001; Rinkevich et al., 2022; Tanaka and Reddien, 2011). Asexual modes of reproduction involving regeneration such as budding or fragmentation are therefore absent in ecydozoans or vertebrates. Parthenogenesis has been described in some species of insects, reptiles, amphibians and fish (Fujita et al., 2020; Subramoniam, 2018). While in vertebrates and ecdysozoans, ASCs populations sustain organismal growth and homeostasis throughout their lifetime, the limited self-renewing capacity eventually leads to organismal decay (i.e. aging) and death (Drummond-Barbosa, 2008; Pathak and Banerjee, 2021).

4.2. Adult PriSCs as a hallmark for body plasticity across Metazoa

4.2.1. Highly regenerative bilaterian organisms present adult PriSCs

In lophotrochozoans, stem cell research has focused on flatworms, annelids, and some

molluscs. Planarian flatworms (e.g. S. mediterranea and D. japonica) present an adult population of pluripotent stem cells called neoblasts that give rise to all somatic lineages and the germline (Baguna et al., 1989; Roberts-Galbraith and Newmark, 2015). Neoblasts underlie the ability of adult planarians to perform asexual reproduction by fission and their outstanding regenerative capacities (Gehrke and Srivastava, 2016; Wagner et al., 2011; Zeng et al., 2018). Recent efforts have focused on characterizing the heterogeneity of the neoblasts and the molecular pathways regulating their differentiation into different lineages (Zeng et al., 2018). Several annelid species (e.g. P. dumerilii, C. teleta, A. virens, E. japonensis) present a set of ASCs locating to the mesodermal posterior growth zone (MPGZ) that are molecularly similar to PGCs. These ASCs continuously generate new body segments and underlie the ability to perform posterior regeneration in annelids (Dill and Seaver, 2008; Gazave et al., 2013; Giani et al., 2011; Kostyuchenko, 2022; Rebscher et al., 2012; Sugio et al., 2008). In addition, some species like P. leidyi are able to reproduce asexually by fission (Del Olmo et al., 2022; Özpolat and Bely, 2015). Nevertheless, it remains unresolved if annelid ASCs hold germinal potential (Rebscher et al., 2012). Little data is available on ASCs in molluscs, but adult PriSCs giving rise to somatic and germinal lineages have been proposed to reside in the gut of bivalves (Milani et al., 2017).

Within cephalochordates, there is evidence for embryonic germline segregation in several species of *Amphioxus*, yet ASCs molecularly similar to PGCs have been associated to tail regeneration (Dailey et al., 2016). Among urochordates, the solitary ascidian *Ciona robusta*, segregates the germline during embryogenesis but can be replaced if ablated after metamorphosis. This observation suggests the presence of adult PriSCs that are able to segregate the germline (Shirae-Kurabayashi and Nakamura, 2018; Takamura et al., 2002). Colonial botryllid ascidians are formed by genetically identical modules called zooids that are generated by budding and connect through a common vasculature. New zooids are continuously generated by the aggregation of hemoblasts, which are ASCs with germ/soma potential (Manni et al., 2019; Rinkevich et al., 2013; Rosental et al., 2018; Rosner et al., 2009; Sunanaga et al., 2010). Botryllid ascidians are so far the only chordates shown to clearly present adult PriSCs.
				Adult PriSCs	Adult PriSCs Regenerative Asexual reproduction**			Adult GMP expression G/S Germ. Soma Reg.			
I			Ctenophora	?	Whole body	~	?	GSCs	ASCs	~	
			Porifera ★	Archaeocytes Choanocytes	Whole body	~	PriSCs	GSCs	ASCs	~	
			Placozoa	?	Whole body	~	?	?	?	?	
CNIDARIA	Г		Anthozoa	?	Whole body	~	?	GSCs	?	?	
			Hydrozoa ★	i-cells	Whole body	~	PriSCs	GSCs	ASCs	~	
		┤┌──	Staurozoa	?	Whole body	~	?	?	?	?	
		Чг	Scyphozoa	?	Whole body	~	?	?	?	?	
Ч		4	Cubozoa	?	Whole body	~	?	?	?	?	
	۲		Xenacoelomorpha ★	Neoblasts	Whole body	~	PriSCs	GSCs	ASCs	~	
TERIA			Nematoda	No	None/low	No	No	GSCs	No	No	
			Arthropoda	No	None/low	No	No	GSCs	No	No	
BILA		1 —	Platyhelminthes ★	Neoblasts	Whole body	~	PriSCs	GSCs	ASCs	~	
		Чг	Annelida	MPGZ?	Whole body	~	?	GSCs	ASCs	~	
			Mollusca	?	High	No	?	GSCs	?	?	
		Г	Hemichordata	?	Whole body	No	?	?	?	?	
			Echinodermata	?	Whole body	~	?	GSCs	?	?	
] —	Cephalochordata	?	High	No	?	GSCs	ASCs	~	
		ſ	Urochordata ★	Hemoblasts	Whole body	~	PriSCs	GSCs	ASCs	~	
			Vertebrata	No	None/low	No	No	GSCs	No	No	

*Highest regenerative potential described within the phyla.

**Modes comprising fission, fragmentation and budding. At least one instance within the phyla.

Figure 5. Distribution of adult PriSCs, regeneration potential, asexual reproduction and GMP expression across Metazoa. Animal tree depicting the major animal phyla with a focus on relevant bilaterian and cnidarian lineages. Phyla comprising organisms with *bona fide* adult PriSCs are highlighted with a star symbol. The presence of adult PriSCs has been linked to whole-body regeneration and asexual reproduction (color coded in blue). Conversely, the absence of adult PriSCs has been associated with absent or low regenerative potential and the inability to reproduce asexually by fission, fragmentation or budding (color coded in orange). The last four columns inform about the adult contexts in which GMP marker genes (e.g. *vasa, pl10, piwi, tudor, nanos*) have been found enriched across the animal tree, including cells with mixed germ/soma potential (G/S), germline (germ), somatic lineages (soma) and regeneration (reg). Data sourced from Fierro-Constaín et al., 2017; Rinkevich et al., 2022; van Wolfswinkel, 2014.

During embryogenesis, echinoderms (e.g. sea urchins and sea stars) develop into freeswimming larvae consisting of somatic larval tissues and a set of cells, traditionally considered PGCs, that inherit germline potential and multipotency marker gene products (Perillo et al., 2021; Wessel et al., 2014). The mixed germ/soma potential of these cells, which constitute the foundation of the juvenile echinoderm (i.e. the adult rudiment), has however led to the alternative hypothesis that these constitute larval PriSCs (Juliano et al., 2006; Juliano et al., 2010; Voronina et al., 2008). At adult stages of echinoderms, the presence of adult PriSCs has been hypothesized but direct evidence is lacking. While sea urchins present rather limited adult regenerative capacity, crinoids such as feather stars (e.g. *A. mediterranea*) can regenerate all appendices and internal organs, including gonads (Candia-Carnevali et al., 2009). Crinoids present both tissue-resident and circulating stem-like cells that contribute to regeneration and may consist of ASCs (Candia-Carnevali et al., 2009).

Acoel worms (e.g. *I. pulcra*, *H. miamia*) present an adult population of PriSCs similar to planarian neoblasts that underlie their ability to perform whole-body regeneration (Cannon et al., 2016; De Mulder et al., 2009; Hulett et al., 2022; Kimura et al., 2022; Srivastava, 2022; Srivastava et al., 2014). The phylogenetic position of acoels is unclear, with different lines of evidence placing them as a sister group either to all other bilaterians (Cannon et al., 2016) or to ambulacrarians (i.e. echinoderms and hemichordates) (Kapli and Telford, 2020; Mulhair et al., 2022; Philippe et al., 2019). As carriers of adult PriSCs, the resolution of acoels' position in the animal tree could have potential implications in our understanding of whether adult PriSCs constitute an ancestral trait in bilaterians.

In conclusion, within bilaterians, *bona fide* adult PriSCs have so far only been described in acoels, lophotrochozans (planarians) and urochordates (botryllid ascidians) (Figure 5). In other highly regenerative bilaterians (e.g. annelids, feather stars), further studies are needed to elucidate the potency of their ASCs.

4.2.2. Adult PriSCs are found in non-bilaterian phyla

Non-bilaterian animals (i.e. sponges, ctenophores, placozoans and cnidarians) have in recent years attracted increasing scientific interest given their phylogenetic position as outgroups to bilaterians and their high body plasticity and regeneration potential. Efforts in characterizing their stem cell biology have shown that a common underlying factor for their plasticity and regenerative abilities is the presence of adult PriSCs that continuously segregate the germline and a diversity of somatic cell types throughout their lifetime (Rinkevich et al., 2022).

Sponges (Porifera) have been traditionally considered the sister group to all other animals due to their simple body plan and cell type composition. While their phylogenetic position in relation to the ctenophores is controversial (Borowiec et al., 2015; Redmond and McLysaght, 2021; Simion et al., 2017; Whelan et al., 2015), they are still key to understand the evolution of multicellular animals. Sponges can reproduce asexually by budding or fission. In addition, certain species inhabiting unstable environments have developed a mode of asexual reproduction called gemmulogenesis, in which different cell types including archeocytes aggregate and form a gemmule that can withstand adverse conditions until finding a favorable environment to hatch again (Ereskovsky, 2010). Sponges present two main stem cell types: choanocytes and archaeocytes. Archaeocytes are considered adult PriSCs, as they give rise to the germline and somatic cell types such as the choanocytes. Choanocytes are ciliated cells forming the feeding chambers that can dedifferentiate into archaeocytes or transdifferentiate into the germline (Ereskovsky, 2010; Funayama, 2013; Funayama et al., 2010). New studies have shown that GMP genes are not only expressed in germ cells, archaeocytes and choanocytes, but also in pinacocytes and vacuolar cells (Alié et al., 2015; Ereskovsky et al., 2015; Fierro-Constaín et al., 2017; Lavrov et al., 2018). This suggests that most of the sponge cell types may retain a certain level of multipotency and thus continuously adjust to the requirements of the organism for reproduction, growth, or regeneration.

Ctenophores, also called comb jellies, have recently been established as model organisms in evo-devo (e.g. *Mnemiopsis leidyi*, *Pleurobrachia pileus*) (Jager et al., 2011a; Pang et al., 2010). It is currently disputed if sponges or ctenophores form the phylogenetic sister group to all other Metazoa (Borowiec et al., 2015; Kapli and Telford, 2020; Simion et al., 2017; Whelan et al., 2017). Despite presenting capacities for whole-body regeneration, little is known about their stem cell biology (Edgar et al., 2021; Ramon-Mateu et al., 2019). Most ctenophore species reproduce sexually and are hermaphroditic, and so far only ctenophores of the order Platyctenida have been observed to reproduce asexually by fragmentation (Glynn et al., 2019). Characterizing the expression of conserved GMP factors like *nanos*, *piwi* and *vasa* in adult ctenophores revealed the location of the germline and of ASCs concentrating in defined

growth zones (e.g. tentacle root, aboral sensory complex) (Alié et al., 2011). GSCs have not been identified during embryonic or larval development, suggesting that germline segregation takes place at later stages by inductive mechanisms (Reitzel et al., 2016). So far, post-embryonic PriSCs have not been described in ctenophores, yet the potential of ASC populations remains unknown.

Placozoans are microscopic, free-living animals, with the simplest body plan among Metazoa. Their phylogenetic position remains unresolved, and only a handful of species have been identified, with *Trichoplax adhaerens* being the first and best studied (F. E. Schulze, 1883). *Trichoplax* reproduce asexually by fission or budding, and there is indirect evidence of sexual reproduction (Signorovitch et al., 2005). Interestingly, placozoans are the only animals to lack *vasa* and *piwi* orthologs, which have likely been lost in their lineage. Their reproductive strategies and regenerative abilities are only beginning to be understood, but so far their stem cell biology remains uncharacterized (Mayorova et al., 2021; Romanova et al., 2022; Signorovitch et al., 2005).

The phylum Cnidaria represents the sister group to all bilaterians. It comprises jellyfish, sea anemones and corals, among other organisms. Their remarkable plasticity, regenerative potential, and biological immortality has attracted an increasing interest in their stem cell biology. Yet, stem cells have so far only been characterized in hydrozoan species, which present pluri- or multipotent ASCs in the form of interstitial stem cells (i-cells). Yet, stem cells of non-hydrozoan cnidarians have so far remained elusive.

In summary, hydrozoan i-cells and sponge archaeocytes and choanocytes are the only currently confirmed adult PriSCs in non-bilaterian model organisms. These examples, together with the ones found in acoels, ascidians and flatworms, have led to question if ASCs with mixed germ/cell potential have evolved convergently or may be ancestral to all animals. However, the low diversity of taxa studied within each phyla hampers our understanding of stem cell evolution. In my work, I have investigated ASCs in the anthozoan cnidarian *Nematostella vectensis* with the objective of broadening our

understanding of stem cells among cnidarians and providing a steppingstone in the quest to elucidate cnidarian and animal stem cell evolution.

4.3. Cnidarians at the origin and forefront of stem cell research

Cnidarians are characterized by the shared presence of stinging cells called enidocytes, a unique cell type involved in preying and defense. Cnidarians present a relatively simple body plan composed of an epidermis, an inner gastrodermis, and a single body opening that acts both as mouth and anus (Genikhovich and Technau, 2009b). Within Cnidaria, we find three main subphyla: (1) Anthozoa, which includes mostly sessile single or colonial polyps of the classes Octocorallia (soft corals, sea pens), Hexacorallia (stony corals and sea anemones) and Ceriantharia (tube-dwelling anemones); (2) Medusozoa, which includes mainly species with a free-swimming medusa stage in their life cycle, further subdivided into the classes Staurozoa, Hydrozoa, Cubozoa and Scyphozoa; and (3) Endocnidozoa, a newly identified clade that includes two groups of parasitic enidarians, the Myxozoa and Polypodiozoa (Atkinson et al., 2018; DeBiasse et al., 2022).

The term "stem cell" was coined for the first time by August Weismann after investigating hydrozoan species, such as *Hydractinia echinata* and *Coryne pusilla* (Weismann, 1883). By researching these and other colonial hydroids, he described a population of histologically undifferentiated cells that were able to become germ cells, which led him to propose his germ plasm theory (Weismann, 1892). Nowadays, the interstitial stem cell lineage of hydrozoans is one of the best characterized stem cell systems among animals (Siebert et al., 2019; Varley et al., 2022). Cnidarians display remarkable regenerative abilities and body plasticity, which in the case of hydrozoans have been linked to the presence of multi- or pluripotent ASCs (i-cells). An extraordinary example of body plasticity is the hydrozoan jellyfish *Turritopsis dohrnii*, which can reverse its life cycle and is thus considered biologically immortal (Martell et al., 2016; Piraino et al., 1996). Given their relatively simple body plan, easy laboratory culture, genetic tractability and minimal ethical concerns, cnidarians are regarded as a key complement to vertebrate research in the quest to elucidate universal genes and molecular pathways involved in "stemness". The characterization of the role of adult cnidarian stem cells in regeneration and organismal immortality can potentially lead to key discoveries and applications in the field of regenerative biology (Bosch, 2008; Bosch, 2009; Frank et al., 2009).

4.3.1. Hydrozoan interstitial stem cells are multi- or pluripotent ASCs

Named after their location in-between epithelial cells in the ectoderm of hydroids, interstitial stem cells (i-cells) consist of a pool of self-renewing, undifferentiated, migratory cells that give rise to both germinal and somatic lineages throughout the lifetime of the organism (Frank et al., 2009). I-cells have been identified in a wide diversity of hydrozoan species, including jellyfish and siphonophores (Houliston et al., 2010; Seipel et al., 2004; Siebert et al., 2015), with the colonial marine hydroid *Hydractinia* (e.g. *H. echinata*, *H. symbiolongicarpus*) and the freshwater polyp *Hydra* (e.g. *H. oligactis*, *H. vulgaris*, *H. attenuata*, *H. magnipapillata*) as the best studied genera to date.

In *Hvdra*, i-cell ablation and transplantation of single i-cells into stem cell-depleted hosts has repeatedly demonstrated the potential of i-cells to give rise to cnidocytes, sensory and ganglion neurons, gland cells and germ cells (Bosch and David, 1987; David and Murphy, 1977; David and Plotnick, 1980; Diehl and Burnett, 1964). (Figure 6D). In addition, there are two epithelial stem cell lineages, ectodermal and endodermal, which are composed of unipotent epithelio-muscular stem cells (Bode, 1996; Hemmrich et al., 2012) (Figure 6C). Hydra i-cells concentrate in the middle part of the body column, from where they migrate and extend into the oral and aboral poles of the animal (head and foot) while differentiating (Figure 6A, arrows). Old cells are shed and replaced by new ones at the terminal regions of the animal. In addition, well fed polyps allocate new cells into buds that will generate a new animal through asexual reproduction. The generation of the different cell types needed in each region of the animal is achieved not only by constant repopulation from i-cells but also by a high phenotypic plasticity of differentiated cells that can transdifferentiate during their journey (Bode et al., 1986; Koizumi and Bode, 1991; Koizumi et al., 1988; Siebert et al., 2008). I-cell subpopulations with exclusive germinal fate when transplanted have



been identified in *Hydra* (Littlefield, 1985; Littlefield, 1991; Nishimiya-Fujisawa and Kobayashi, 2012; Nishimiya-Fujisawa C. and Sugiyama, 1993).

Figure 6. *Hydra* and *Hydractinia* stem cell lineages and their potential. (A-D) Schematics depicting the general morphology of the hydrozoan polyp body plan (A) and its ectodermal and endodermal cell lineages (B-D'). New cells are generated in the middle part of the polyp column (B, close-up of the box in A), which continuously displace old cells towards the oral and aboral poles of the polyp. *Hydra* presents one multipotent i-cell lineage (B-D, depicted in pink) and two unipotent endodermal and ectodermal epithelio-muscular lineages (B-D', depicted in green and blue, respectively). *Hydra* i-cells give rise to ganglion and sensory neurons, cnidocytes, gland cells (zymogen, mucous) and the germline (D). *Hydractinia* shares *Hydra* features but, in addition, its i-cells can also give rise to the epithelio-muscular lineages and are thus pluripotent (D'). ped: peduncle; bd: basal disk; gc: gland cell; nb: nematoblast; nem: differentiated nematocyte; prog: progenitor. Modified from Siebert et al. 2019, *Hydractinia* colony drawing from Müller and Leitz, 2002.

In *Hydractinia*, a single i-cell can give rise to all cell types, including endodermal and ectodermal musculo-epithelial cells (Künzel et al., 2010; Müller et al., 2004; Plickert et al., 2012; Varley et al., 2022). *Hydractinia* is so far the only organism in which a

single i-cell has been demonstrated to hold adult pluripotency (Varley et al., 2022). As many *Hydra* species, *Hydractinia* is dioecious and is the first cnidarian for which sexual chromosomes have been identified (Chen et al., 2022). It is also the only cnidarian in which post-embryonic germline segregation has been characterized at a molecular level. In this case, a single transcription factor, AP2, is sufficient to induce germ cell fate in i-cells. In addition, it is required for gonad formation in a non-autonomous way, which suggests that i-cells may be inducing somatic gonad formation in gonozooid polyps (DuBuc et al., 2020). A mammalian ortholog of AP2 plays a role in primordial germ cell induction in embryos, suggesting that it might be part of an ancestral program for germline induction (DuBuc et al., 2020; Magnúsdóttir et al., 2013).

In summary, hydrozoan species share a conserved population of multi- or pluripotent ASCs, the i-cells, which continuously segregate germinal and somatic lineages throughout the lifetime of the organism. The presence of such cells is tightly connected to the clonal and regenerative abilities, plasticity and biological immortality of hydrozoan cnidarians.

4.3.2. Stem cells of anthozoan, scyphozoan and staurozoan cnidarians

Knowledge on the stem cell biology of non-hydrozoan cnidarians is scarce, and so far, studies have failed to identify the equivalent to i-cells in non-hydrozoan model organisms (Gold and Jacobs, 2013; Technau and Steele, 2011). There is little to no data available on the stem cell biology of scyphozoan, cubozoan or staurozoan cnidarians, as their culture and maintenance in a laboratory setting has proven difficult. Ultrastructural studies have described amoeboid cells in anthozoan and scyphozoan species as potential stem cells (Gold and Jacobs, 2013), but no further evidence has yet been found.

Anthozoan cnidarians (e.g. corals and sea anemones) have attracted increasing interest in recent years for their ecological value in coral reefs, their symbiotic relationship with unicellular dinoflagellates and their phylogenetic position as sister group to all other cnidarians. Given that corals and sea anemones continuously produce millions of gametes throughout their lifetime (which can extend up to hundreds of years in the case of corals), anthozoans are assumed to possess self-renewing adult GSCs. In corals, there is little molecular or cellular data available on stem cells or germline segregation. The best studied species is the reef-building scleractinian coral *Euphyllia ancora*, for which potential GSCs have been identified in the gastrodermal folds (i.e. mesenteries) (Shikina and Chang, 2016; Shikina et al., 2012; Shikina et al., 2015). In other scleractinian corals, such as *Acropora hyacinthus* and *Acropora palmata*, genome sequencing of different colony branches or sub-colonies have identified distinct, postembryonic single nucleotide variants (SNVs) which are transmitted to the germline within the respective body parts (López-Nandam et al., 2021; Vasquez Kuntz et al., 2020). These data indicate that stony corals must present a population of ASCs that can give rise to both somatic and germinal lineages throughout the adult life of the coral colony. Yet, such cells have not been identified so far. In sea anemones, the stem cell biology of well-established models such as *Nematostella vectensis* and *Aiptasia pallida* remains largely unknown.

5. The sea anemone Nematostella vectensis as a stem cell research organism

In the past two decades, *Nematostella vectensis* has become a well-established anthozoan model organism in evolutionary and developmental research given its easy culture and maintenance in the laboratory and the accessibility to any life cycle stage, including sexual and asexual reproductive states (Genikhovich and Technau, 2009b; Layden et al., 2016; Reitzel et al., 2007). A combination of light and temperature stimuli is sufficient to induce synchronous spawning of males and females, which are able to produce numerous mature gametes every two to three weeks (Fritzenwanker and Technau, 2002; Genikhovich and Technau, 2009e; Hand and Uhlinger, 1992). The life cycle is relatively short, taking approximately three months using a daily feeding regime. Its sequenced genome (Putnam et al., 2007) has recently been upgraded to chromosome-level quality (Zimmermann et al., 2020). A great variety of molecular and genetic tools has been implemented in *Nematostella*, including *in situ* hybridization, immunostaining, S-phase labelling (Genikhovich and Technau, 2009a; Genikhovich and Technau, 2009d), morpholino and short-hairpin

RNA mediated knock-down (He et al., 2018; Magie et al., 2007; Rentzsch et al., 2008), transgenesis (Renfer et al. 2010) and CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing (Ikmi et al., 2014; Lebouvier et al., 2022).

5.1. Biology, reproduction and morphology

Nematostella is part of the family Edwardsiidae and can be found buried in the sediment of estuarine environments such as brackish water pools or salt marshes along the coasts of North America and England. In these quickly changing ecological spaces, it is able to withstand significant temperature and salinity fluctuations (Hand and Uhlinger, 1994).

Nematostella is dioecious, presenting male and female individuals that spawn sperm and eggs, respectively. Fertilization takes place externally and is followed by embryonic development, which presents a free-swimming larva called planula that settles and transforms into a primary polyp after approximately a week at 25°C. Upon feeding, primary polyps will go through a juvenile growth phase. After three months of growth, individuals start to spawn mature gametes and are then considered sexually mature adults. *Nematostella* polyps can also reproduce asexually by fission during both juvenile and adult stages (Fritzenwanker et al., 2007; Hand and Uhlinger, 1992).

As other cnidarians, *Nematostella* is considered diploblastic, presenting an outer epidermis and an inner gastrodermis separated by a thin layer of extracellular matrix called mesoglea (Shick, 1991). *Nematostella* displays a single oral opening that acts both as mouth and anus and that is surrounded by a crown of up to 18 tentacles involved in preying. Along the oral-aboral axis, its body is divided into three different regions: head (capitulum), body column (scapus) and foot (physa). The gastrodermis lines the gastric cavity and forms eight folds called mesenteries, which extend along the oral-to-aboral axis of the animal (Figure 7B) (Shick, 1991). The gastrodermis is of endodermal embryonic origin except for the outer pharynx lining and the distal tip of the mesenteries (i.e. cnidoglandular tract), which have ectodermal embryonic origin (Shick, 1991; Steinmetz, 2019).



Figure 7. Morphology of the adult *Nematostella* **polyp and its gonadal mesentery. (A, B)** Schematics portraying a longitudinal section of an adult *Nematostella* (A) and a cross section of the body column comparing male and female gonadal mesenteries (A'). **(B)** 3D drawing of a piece of trilobed gonadal mesentery depicting the different tracts along the distal (D) to proximal (P) axis relative to the body wall. cgt: cnidoglandular tract; it: intermediate tract; ct: ciliated tract; rt: reticulate tract; sg: somatic gonad epithelium ; rm: retractor muscle; pm: parietal muscle: gbw: gastrodermal part of the body wall; ep: epidermis; spermar.: spermaries; O: oral; AB: aboral.

The morphology, function and cell type composition of the mesentery varies along the oral to aboral axis, but these different regions have not been formally named previously. In this manuscript, I refer to the different morphological regions of the mesentery as pharyngeal, subpharyngeal, gonadal, trophic and physal (Figure 7A). Orally, mesenteries connect to the pharynx, an ectodermal epithelial ring that constitutes the oral opening of the animal. The subpharyngeal region of mesenteries is devoid of gametes and can be considered a transition zone between the pharynx and gonadal mesentery regions. The gonadal mesentery region harbors oocytes and spermaries of different sizes, and is followed aborally by the trophic region, which wraps around the prey during digestion (Shick, 1991; Steinmetz, 2019). Finally, the physal region of the mesentery shows a reduced size and complexity towards the aboral end of the body column (Figure 7A). While *Nematostella* is considered to lack true organs, the mesentery is a complex tissue with specialized, longitudinal "tracts" that are enriched for different cell types and run along the oral-aboral axis (Figure 7B)

(Daly et al., 2003; Van-Praët, 1985). From proximal to distal, the first tract or region found in the mesentery is the parietal muscle at the base of the mesentery, which is in direct continuity with the body wall gastrodermis along the entire oral-aboral axis of the body column (Figure 7B) (Frank and Bleakney, 1976). The parietal muscle is followed by a thin section that joins the parietal and the retractor muscle. In the gonadal mesentery, the retractor muscle is followed by a gonad tract comprising a gonadal epithelium that includes vitellogenic nurse cells and mucus cells. Early oocytes are thought to emerge and bulge from the gonadal epithelium into the mesoglea, where they undergo oogenesis in an asynchronous way (Figure 7B) (Eckelbarger et al., 2008; Lebouvier et al., 2022; Moiseeva et al., 2017). Males resemble females in their morphology, differing in the presence of spermaries instead of oocytes in the gonad mesoglea (Figure 7A') (Tucker et al., 2011). The tip of the mesentery is called the septal filament (Figure 7B), which comprises the reticulate tract (Figure 7B, "rt") and the cnidoglandular tract (Figure 7B, "cgt") if unilobed, and also the ciliated (Figure 7B, "ct") and intermediate tracts (Figure 7B, "it") if trilobed (Daly et al., 2003; Malcolm Shick, 2012; Ruppert et al., 2004; Van-Praët, 1985). The pharynx and two pairs of primary mesenteries form during larval development and are thus already present in the primary polyp (Layden et al., 2016) Upon feeding, primary mesenteries start to grow and extend aborally, and during juvenile growth three more pairs of mesenteries develop (Jahnel et al., 2014). Around 3 months after fertilization, a gonad region emerges between the subpharyngeal and trophic regions of each mesentery (Figure 7A) (personal observation).

5.2. Stem cell biology in Nematostella vectensis: state-of-the-art

As other enidarians, *Nematostella* can perform whole-body regeneration when bisected at any point of the body column, similarly to the process of asexual reproduction by fission (Amiel et al., 2015; Amiel et al., 2019; Layden et al., 2016). Recent work has demonstrated that mesenteries are indispensable for regeneration to take place, yet the underlying cellular or molecular mechanisms remain undescribed (Amiel et al., 2015; Amiel et al., 2019; Röttinger, 2021). In addition, *Nematostella* can withstand extremely long periods of starvation by shrinkage. This process can be reverted by re-feeding, which causes explosive regrowth (K. Garschall, personal communication). These observations point to the presence of so far undescribed ASCs in the juvenile and adult mesenteries, which likely contribute to the regenerative abilities and body plasticity of *Nematostella*.

5.2.1. Potential PGCs are segregated at the end of larval development

So far, efforts on identifying and characterizing stem cells in *Nematostella* have focused on embryonic and larval stages. As successfully done for other metazoans, a common strategy applied to identify stem cells in *Nematostella* has been to characterize the expression and location of conserved GMP gene orthologs (e.g. *vasa*, *piwi*) in *Nematostella*.

Nematostella Vasa2 protein is present in germ granules of mature oocytes and is found ubiquitously at the blastula stage (Figure 8) (Chen et al., 2020; Praher et al., 2017). At the onset of gastrulation, the start of the embryonic expression of vasa2 and other GMP genes (e.g. piwil, piwi2, tudor, vasal, pl10) takes place in the pre-endodermal plate(Chen et al., 2020; Extavour et al., 2005; Praher et al., 2017). Within the same time period, Vasa2 becomes gradually undetectable from the aboral towards the oral pole (Figure 8). At planula stages, GMP markers are only present in the endoderm and are progressively restricted to two endodermal cell clusters at the basis of the pharynx in each of the primary mesenteries of the primary polyp (Figure 8, red cells) (Chen et al., 2020; Extavour et al., 2005; Praher et al., 2017). This process is regulated by the Hedgehog pathway, which in planula and primary polyp stages defines a boundary where the pharyngeal ectoderm (expressing the ligand hhI) and the endoderm (expressing the receptor *ptc*) meet (Chen et al., 2020). The expression of *nanos* orthologs during embryonic and larval development differs from the expression of other GMP genes. At the planula stage, nanos2 expression is not only found in the endoderm but also in the pharyngeal ectoderm. At the primary polyp stage, the highest level of nanos2 expression coincides with the mesenterial cell clusters expressing GMP genes, but is additionally found in single cells in the gastrodermis and pharynx (Extavour et al., 2005). nanosl is expressed in single cells in the gastrula and planula

ectoderm and in the developing endoderm corresponding to neural progenitors (Extavour et al., 2005; Steger et al., 2022).



Figure 8. Determination of potential PGCs during embryonic and larval development in *Nematostella vectensis*. Depiction of the main stages of *Nematostella* embryonic and larval development highlighting the location of Vasa2 protein (black dots) and the regions co-expressing *vasa2*, *piwi1*, *piwi2* and *tudor* (red stripes). Data from Chen et al., 2020; Extavour et al., 2005; Praher et al., 2017. O: oral; A: aboral, 8d: 8 days after fertilization; PGCs: primordial germ cells.

Previous work proposed that the two GMP+ cell clusters determined at the end of the planula stage are PGCs and thus represent a case of embryonic germline segregation by epigenesis (Chen et al., 2020; Extavour et al., 2005) (Figure 8). However, whether the presumed PGCs hold additional potentials beyond the germline remains yet to be addressed.

5.2.2. Adult stem cells remain elusive in Nematostella

In my work, I employ the term 'adult stem cell' (ASC) to refer to stem cells present at post-larval stages of *Nematostella* (i.e. juvenile and adult). As previously stated, few studies have investigated the stem cell biology of *Nematostella* beyond the primary polyp stage, and thus ASCs and their potential have remained uncharacterized.

Analysis of Vasa2 protein during juvenile growth and at adult stages revealed that, upon feeding, the presumed PGCs appear to proliferate and migrate into the developing mesenteries, where they give rise to the germline at sexual maturity (Chen et al., 2020).

Therefore, these Vasa2+ cells constitute potential adult GSCs in *Nematostella*. As the germline develops, GMP genes such as *piwi1*, *piwi2*, *vasa1* and *vasa2* continue to be expressed in *Nematostella* oocytes and in spermatogonia (Praher et al., 2017). Vasa2 protein has been detected in perinuclear germ granules similar to the *nuage* in growing oocytes and spermatogonia of *Nematostella* (Chen et al., 2020; Praher et al., 2017). While ultrastructural data suggests that early oocytes bulge into the mesoglea from the basis of the somatic gonad epithelium, the location of mitotic or meiotic oogonia remains uncharacterized (Eckelbarger et al., 2008; Tucker et al., 2011).

The stem cell source of adult somatic lineages, such as cnidocytes, neurons, gland cells, muscle cells or epidermal cells, remains as well unknown in *Nematostella*. So far, their developmental origins have only been investigated during embryonic and larval development (Richards and Rentzsch, 2014; Tournière et al., 2021). A recent scRNA-seq study that included juvenile and adult tissues has proposed differentiation trajectories for a neuroglandular lineage in *Nematostella* (Steger et al., 2022) similar to the one described *in Hydra* (Siebert et al., 2019). However, scRNA-seq studies in *Nematostella* have so far failed to unambiguously identify an ASC population upstream of the neuroglandular and cnidocyte progenitors (Sebé-Pedrós et al., 2018; Steger et al., 2022). Thus, the location of *Nematostella* ASCs and their role in homeostasis, growth and regeneration remain unknown.

6. Aims of the study

The present thesis intends to address the following questions:

- Are there adult stem cells in Nematostella vectensis?
- If so, what is their potential?
- Are there conserved features between anthozoan and hydrozoan adult stem cells?

The aim of my thesis is thus to characterize the location and potential of ASCs in *Nematostella vectensis*. To do so, I employed two different, complementary approaches, as reflected in the two papers presented.

Approach #1 (Paper I)

The main project of my thesis has been to characterize the location of potential stem cells and germline progenitors by studying GMP marker orthologs in juvenile and adult polyps. So far, GMP orthologs have been shown to be expressed in oocytes and spermatogonia of adults (e.g. *vasa1*, *vasa2*, *piwi1* and *piwi2*) (Chen et al., 2020; Praher et al., 2017). In addition, putative Vasa2+ germline stem cells have been described in the *Nematostella* mesenteries (Chen et al., 2020). Whether Vasa2+ cells hold a potential beyond the germline has not been addressed. Thus, the aims of this project were:

- To characterize the expression of a set of conserved GMP orthologs (*piwi1*, *piwi2*, *vasa1*, *vasa2*, *pl10*, *tudor*) in adult *Nematostella*.
- To characterize the location and colocalization of Vasa2 and Piwi1 proteins in juvenile and adult *Nematostella* by combining Vasa2 immunostaining and a Piwi1 knock-in fluorescent reporter line.
- To assess the potential of Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cells by *piwi1* and *vasa2* transgenic fluorescent reporter analysis in combination with a *soxB(2)* promotor-driven neuronal progenitor fluorescent reporter line.

Approach #2 (Paper II)

In a second approach, I aimed to identify potential stem-like cell populations in an unbiased manner by performing a single cell RNA-sequencing (scRNA-seq) experiment. Two whole-polyp scRNA-seq analyses including juvenile and adult stages have been previously published, neither of which could unambiguously identify clusters of stem-like cells (Sebé-Pedrós et al., 2018; Steger et al., 2022). Approach #1 has revealed the presence of a population of stem-like cells in the mesenteries of juvenile and adult *Nematostella* polyps, whose cell composition remains poorly described. As the mesenterial stem-like cell population may have been overlooked in previous scRNA-seq studies, I performed scRNA-seq of the adult female mesentery together with my colleague M. Lebouvier, in order to enrich for the stem-like cell-containing region of the mesentery (see approach #1). In a project co-authored with M.

Lebouvier, the overall aim was to produce a cell atlas of the whole adult female mesentery, including the stem-like cells. In this thesis, I will focus on the identification and characterization of adult stem cells in *Nematostella*. Thus, in the context of my thesis the specific aims of this approach were:

- To perform scRNA-seq of an adult female mesentery to identify potential adult stem and/or progenitor cell clusters (e.g. germline, neural).
- To place the mesenterial stem/progenitor cell clusters in a whole polyp context by combining our dataset with a published, whole polyp dataset (Sebé-Pedrós et al., 2018).
- Identify and characterize the expression of conserved and new marker genes that allow discerning between stem and progenitor cells.

Ultimately, by defining ASCs in *Nematostella*, I hope to contribute to our understanding of stem cell evolution within cnidarians and unveil the cellular basis of *Nematostella*'s striking body plasticity and regenerative abilities.

Chapter 2: Summary of the results

1. An adult stem-like cell population contributes to germinal and somatic lineages in the sea anemone *Nematostella vectensis* (Paper I)

Within enidarians, the presence of adult stem cells (ASCs) holding both germinal and somatic potential has only been described in hydrozoan species and is thus so far considered a hydrozoan-specific trait (Technau and Steele, 2011). To identify potential ASCs in *Nematostella*, in Paper I I carefully characterized the mRNA expression and protein location of *piwil* and *vasa2* genes in juvenile and adult stages. In addition, transgenic reporter lines were generated to trace their potential.

Characterization of a set of GMP gene orthologs in adult Nematostella gonadal mesenteries by *in situ* hybridization confirmed their expression in the germline (i.e. oocytes in females and spermatogonia in males) and revealed a population of small, basiepithelial cells expressing *piwi1*, *piwi2* and *tudor* in the extragonadal region of the septal filament, concentrating in the reticulate tract (Paper I, Figures 1B-C' and S1). Vasa2 immunostaining in combination with a newly generated knock-in reporter line expressing mOr2-Piwi1 fusion protein was used to validate co-localization of Vasa2 and Piwil proteins in spermatogonia, perinuclear granules in growing oocytes, and in the previously described small, extragonadal cells in the reticulate tract of each mesentery (Paper I, Figures 1E-H' and S2). S-phase labelling revealed that these Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells can divide (Paper I, Figures 1H-H' and S3). These Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells correspond to the previously described Vasa2+ PGCs (Chen et al., 2020). In addition, I found Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells not only in the gonadal regions of the adult mesenteries but all along the oral-aboral axis of the mesenteries, including pharyngeal, trophic and physal regions of both adult and juvenile polyps (Paper I, Figures 2 and S4).

To investigate the potential of Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells, I generated two new transgenic reporter lines for *vasa2* and *piwi1*: a promoter-driven *vasa2::mOr2* reporter line and a knock-in GFP-P2A-Piwi1 reporter line which generates separate GFP and Piwi1 protein products during translation. In combination with Vasa2 antibody and the *piwi1^{mOr2}* reporter line, I used those lines to perform fate mapping of Vasa2+/Piwi1+

mesentery cells. As expected, Vasa2 protein colocalized with high levels of *vasa2::*mOr2 in the germline and in Vasa2+/Piwi1+ extragonadal basiepithelial cells of the adult and juvenile mesenteries (**Paper I, Figures 3A-A''** and **S6B-D, F**). The same Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells showed mOr2-Piwi1 protein colocalizing with high levels of GFP(-P2A-Piwi1) (**Paper I, Figure 3C-C''**). In addition, lower levels of both *vasa2::*mOr2 and GFP(-P2A-Piwi1) were detected colocalizing in mOr2-Piwi1-/Vasa2- cells within the parietal muscle tract and gastrodermal body wall, thus likely labelling somatic progeny of Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells (**Paper I, Figures 3B-B'', D-D'', F-F' and S11B-B'', F-F'**). These somatic progeny cells were abundant, often proliferative and basiepithelial, and distributed throughout the gastrodermis of juvenile and adult polyps (**Figures S6-S9**). Thus, I concluded that Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells constitute an adult stem-like cell population holding both germinal and somatic potential.

Remarkably, many of the somatic progeny cells that concentrated along the parietal muscle tract of each mesentery displayed migratory and neuronal shapes (Paper I, Figures S6G-H'' and S9D', H, J-K). To test a potential neural identity of the somatic progeny, the GFP(-P2A-Piwi1) reporter line was crossed with the published neural progenitor reporter line *soxb(2)::mOr2* (Richards and Rentzsch, 2014). I showed that in these double reporter lines, low levels of GFP and mOr2 colocalized to basiepithelial, often proliferative cells in the muscle tracts and gastrodermal body wall (Paper I, Figure 4B-D''). These results led me to propose that a set of gastrodermal neurons derives from a population of mesenterial Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cells holding germinal, neuronal and other somatic potentials (Paper I, Figure 5).

2. Mesentery-enriched single-cell atlas of *Nematostella vectensis* uncovers complex cell composition and a stem-like cell population (Paper II)

While mesenteries are considered one of the most complex tissues of sea anemones, their cellular composition remains largely unexplored. In *Nematostella*, Vasa2+/Piwi1+ putative adult stem cells holding both germinal and somatic potential localize in a well-defined position (i.e. the reticulate tract) at the basis of the septal filament (see Paper I; **Paper II, Figure 1B-C**). Single-cell RNA-sequencing (scRNA-

seq) technology has allowed characterizing the cell diversity of the *Nematostella* polyp (Sebé-Pedrós et al., 2018; Steger et al., 2022). However, the complexity of the sexually mature mesentery has not been addressed, and adult stem cells have not been found in previous analyses. To address these limitations, I complemented here a previously published juvenile polyp scRNA-seq dataset (Sebé-Pedrós et al., 2018) with an adult female mesentery dataset comprised of microdissected mesentery samples, including the tissue where potential Vasa2+/Piwi1+ adult stem cells locate (**Paper II, Figure 1A**). The result of this combined scRNA-seq dataset is an adult female mesentery cell atlas co-authored with M. Lebouvier (*in preparation*). In Paper II, I present a preliminary analysis of our dataset, with a focus on progenitor and stem-like cell types and states.

Applying a MARS-seq protocol and Seurat-based bioinformatic analysis (Jaitin et al., 2014; Satija et al., 2015), the transcriptomes of 6767 cells were grouped into 45 clusters (Paper II, Figures 1D and S1). By analyzing the unique transcriptomic signature of each cluster and ISH patterns of respective marker genes, we assigned a putative cell identity to each cluster (Paper II, Figure 1D). We validated our analysis by identifying clusters corresponding to previously described cell types such as cnidocyte and retractor muscle (Paper II, Figure S2). We found a great diversity of endocytic, exocrine and neural cell types (Lebouvier, 2021) (Paper II, Figure 1D). We also identified cell clusters connected to female sexual maturity such as vitellogenic somatic gonad cells (90 1) (Lebouvier, 2021) and oocytes (98) (Paper II, Figure S4). In addition, our dataset highlights previously undescribed cell types of the septal filament, including ciliated tract cells (220) identified by the marker *zp2* (Paper II, Figure 2F-G') and proximal cnidoglandular tract cells ($\Im 2$ 3) identified by the marker gene semaphorin-5A (Paper II, Figure 2D-E). Interestingly, I found a cluster of ki67+ cells (936) consisting of cells identified by the marker gene histone-H1 (v1g8097) that locate to the proximal cnidoglandular tract of the trophic region and distal end of the ciliated tract (Paper II, Figure 2J-N). Both clusters 22 3 and 236 were enriched for the stem cell/progenitor marker nanos2 (Paper II, Figure S5) and partially shared their transcriptomic signature. Spatial expression analysis of cluster marker genes led me to propose that cluster 236 comprises putative proliferative progenitor cells of the ciliated and cnidoglandular tracts, while Q_2 likely contains cnidoglandular tract cell precursors (**Paper II, Figure 2N**). Finally, a cluster enriched for both germline/multipotency program (GMP) marker gene orthologs (e.g. *vasa, piwi, tudor*) and meiosis gene orthologs (e.g. *sycp1, hop1*) was identified (Q19) (**Paper II, Figure S5**), likely comprising stem cells and meiotic oogonia.

To place our mesentery dataset within the context of a whole organism scRNA-seq dataset, we combined it with the published juvenile dataset (Sebé-Pedrós et al., 2018) and performed a new Seurat-based bioinformatic analysis, which yielded 78 cell clusters (**Paper II, Figure 3A**). Most clusters were composed of cells originating from both datasets, indicating a low likelihood of batch effects (**Paper II, Figure S6A-B**). In the merged dataset, co-enrichment of GMP marker genes was found in one single cluster (#8) (**Paper II, Figure 3B'**), which expressed *ki67* and other genes with putative roles in cell proliferation among its top marker genes (**Paper II, Figure 3B**).

Subclustering of cluster 8 allowed identifying eight proliferative cell types or cell states (Paper II, Figure 4A). Among those, I found that two subclusters with highest enrichment in GMP markers (#8.0 and #8.5) (Paper II, Figures 5F and S7) are highly similar in their transcriptomic signature except for the presence of meiosis genes in #8.5 (Paper II, Figure 4C). This observation suggests that clusters #8.0 and #8.5 correspond to stem cells and meiotic oogonia, respectively. ISH revealed that specific marker genes for clusters #8.0 and #8.5 are expressed in reticulate tract cells of the female gonadal mesentery (Paper II, Figure 4A-E'), suggesting a close spatial proximity of stem cells and derived meiotic oogonia. The expression of marker genes for cluster #8.0 and GMP marker genes such as vasa2 in reticulate tract cells led me to propose that cluster #8.0 corresponds to the population of putative Vasa2+/Piwi1+ adult stem cells described in Paper I (Paper II, Figure 6). Other subclusters include a cluster of undetermined identity containing no specific marker genes (#8.2) and a cluster of putative cnidoglandular and ciliated tract progenitors (#8.7) (Paper II, Figure 2J-N). In addition, I found a subcluster of cells enriched for mitotic spindle signature genes (#8.1) and subclusters of neuronal progenitor cells (#8.3, #8.4 and #8.6) that show an enrichment of neural transcription factor gene orthologs (e.g. soxB(2),

achaete-scute and otx) and GMP markers (e.g. nanos1, nanos2 and pl10) (Paper II, Figures 4C and S7). The location of the subcluster #8.7 marker gene histone-H1 (v1g8097) to the proximal enidoglandular tract of the trophic region and distal end of the ciliated tract coincides with a population of cells derived from Vasa2+/Piwi1+ adult stem-like cells highlighted by the vasa2::mOr2 reporter line (Paper I, Figure S8 C-C", F-F', G"-G""; Paper II, Figure 1C). This observation suggests that cluster #8.7 comprises cells derived from the Vasa2+/Piwi1+ adult stem cells represented by cluster #8.0 (Paper II, Figure 6). The vasa2::mOr2 and piwi1^{P2A-GFP} reporter lines also revealed a population of soxB(2)+ NPCs in the mesenteries and body wall of the Nematostella polyp (Paper I, Figure 4; Paper II, Figure 1C). I therefore proposed that the NPCs comprised within clusters #8.3, #8.5 and #8.6 also derive from the Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem cells of cluster #8.0 (Paper II, Figure 6).

Our mesentery-enriched polyp dataset thus allowed me to identify a cluster comprising proliferative progenitors and stem cells. Its subclustering led to the identification of a subcluster of Vasa2+/Piwi1+ adult stem-like cells and subclusters of germline (i.e. meiotic oogonia) and somatic progenitor cells (i.e. cnidoglandular and ciliated tract progenitors, NPCs) that are likely derived from Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cells. In conclusion, the scRNA-seq data presented in Paper II further supports the hypothesis presented in Paper I, which proposes a dual germ/soma potential for the population of adult Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cells in the mesenteries of *Nematostella*.

3. Additional results

A recent cross between *vasa2::mOr2* and the gastrodermal NPC reporter line *prdm14d::GFP* (Lemaître et al., 2022) has revealed colocalization between low levels of mOr2 and GFP (data not shown), suggesting that Prdm14d+ NPCs in the gastrodermis of *Nematostella* also derive from the Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cell population in the mesenteries. In the scRNA-seq dataset, *prdm14d (v1g96522)* is enriched in the NPC subcluster #8.3.

Chapter 3: Discussion

The objective of this thesis was to identify putative populations of adult stem cells (ASCs) and characterize their potential in the sea anemone *Nematostella vectensis*. Here, I provide the first evidence for a Vasa2+/Piwi1+ adult stem-like cell population holding both germinal and somatic potential in a non-hydrozoan cnidarian.

1. An adult stem-like cell population with germinal and somatic potential in *Nematostella*

1.1. Adult Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells present conserved stem cell features

Stem cells are generally characterized by their abilities to self-renew and to give rise to progenitor cells that mitotically divide a limited number of times before differentiating into a given cell type. In addition, stem cells are often morphologically undifferentiated, with few exceptions such as *Hydra* epithelial stem cells (Bosch, 2007; Hobmayer et al., 2012). The preservation of their undifferentiated state and ability to self-renew are ensured by molecular determinants. More specifically, stem cells with germinal potential present highly conserved marker genes (germline/multipotency program, GMP) that protect their genome integrity (Juliano et al., 2010). In this thesis, I have described a population of cells that presents at least some of these features in *Nematostella*, and postulate that they constitute a population of ASCs with both germinal and somatic potential.

By characterizing GMP marker genes in juvenile and adult stages in *Nematostella*, I have identified a population of small cells in the mesenteries that express *piwi1*, *piwi2*, *tudor* and that colocalize Vasa2 and Piwi1 protein (**Paper I**). These cells correspond to the presumed Vasa2+ PGCs previously described (Chen et al., 2020). Our scRNA-seq analysis (**Paper II**) has confirmed the presence of a single GMP+ ASC population in *Nematostella* enriched for the conserved GMP markers *piwi1*, *piwi2*, *piwi1-like*, *vasa1*, *vasa2*, *bol2*, *bol3* and *tudor*, supporting its stem cell identity and germinal potential. In addition, our scRNA-seq analysis has revealed new potential ASC markers that may play a role in stem cell and germ/soma potential maintenance, including

orthologs of the transcription factors *hlf* and *six-like*, as well as some genes without clear orthology (e.g. *v1g208008*).

Interestingly, our scRNA-seq data has shown that some GMP genes such as *nanos1*, *nanos2*, *pl10* and *pumilio* are not enriched in the ASC clusters, but in clusters of putative somatic progenitor cells (e.g. in neuronal progenitor cells) or differentiated cnidocyte, glandular and neuronal cells. These observations suggest a potential role for these genes in the specification and establishment of somatic lineages in *Nematostella*.

Using EdU labelling, I have shown that some Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells undergo and complete S-phase (**Paper I**). Interestingly, some Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells had not incorporated EdU after relatively long pulses (3 days). This suggests that some of these cells are slow cyclers or quiescent, waiting for an external cue to re-enter the cell cycle (e.g. feeding or wounding). A way to investigate the percentage and location of slow cyclers within the Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cell population is to ablate fast cycling cells through irradiation or hydroxyurea treatments. The proliferative ability of Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells was also supported by the scRNA-seq data, which shows enrichment of proliferation markers such as ki67 and *cenpf* in the vasa2+/piwi1+ stem-like cell subcluster (**Paper II**). The ability of these cells to self-renew remains to be tested by single-cell transplant or genetic lineage tracing, which are currently not available for *Nematostella*.

Another general feature of stem cells is their ability to give rise to progenitor cells belonging to one or several cell lineages. By analyzing transgenic reporter lines for *piwil* and *vasa2* (**Paper I**), I have shown that the putative ASC population gives rise to abundant gastrodermal somatic cells, thus holding not only germinal but also somatic potential. As shown by short, 1-hour EdU pulses, a large proportion of the somatic progeny of Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells is undergoing S-phase and thus likely consist of fast-cycling, proliferative progenitors. The presence of neural progenitor marker genes confirmed that a subset of the progeny of Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells give rise to neural progenitors. Therefore, the dual germinal and neuronal potential shown in this work strongly suggests the presence of stem cells within the Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cell population.

1.2. The Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cell population consists of stem cells and oogonia

When addressing the level of heterogeneity of the Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cell population, two scenarios are possible: (1) the Vasa2+/Piwi1+ adult stem-like cell population is a homogeneous population with both germinal and somatic potential and without significant transcriptional differences between the cells; (2) it is a heterogeneous population consisting of different stem cell populations (e.g. germline, neural stem cells) and derived progenitor cells (e.g. germline progenitors, neural progenitors). The scRNA-seq data presented here (Paper II), revealed two clusters enriched for vasa2 and *piwil* genes, which suggests a certain level of heterogeneity within the Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cell population. These two clusters present very similar transcriptomic profiles except for a few differentially expressed genes, including meiosis genes (e.g. sycp1, hop1) and some transcription factors (e.g. hlf, six-like). ISH on some of these differentially expressed marker genes revealed a similar expression pattern of cells along the basis of the septal filament of the gonadal mesentery (see Paper II, Figure 5), corresponding to the location of Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells. Thus, according to my data, at least two subpopulations are found within the Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cell population, consisting presumably of (1) hlf+ stem-like cells with germ/soma potential and (2) sycpl + pre-meiotic or meiotic germline progenitors (i.e. oogonia) that are potentially derived from the *hlf*+ stem-like cells (Figure 9C). Our scRNA-seq data did not indicate a higher heterogeneity within these subpopulations. If present, it could be further resolved by scRNA-seq of FACS-sorted cells of *piwi1^{mOr2}* transgenic juvenile and adult polyps.

Another approach to address the heterogeneity within the Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cell population consists of following the lineage of single transplanted cells from a transgenic reporter line (e.g. vasa2::mOr2 or $piwi1^{P2A-GPF}$) into wild-type hosts. This method would not only reveal the self-renewing ability of these cells but also clarify the diversity of their potentials. If, for instance, the progeny of a single cell develops only into somatic cell types, it could be concluded that somatic stem cells constitute a separate subpopulation of Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem cells. In *Hydra*, for instance, i-cell transplants revealed a subpopulation of i-cells with restricted germinal potential

(Littlefield, 1985; Littlefield, 1991; Nishimiya-Fujisawa C. and Sugiyama, 1993)). Nevertheless, single cell transplant subjects the transferred cell to an artificial, stressful context that often leads to its death or affects its properties and potentials. These pitfalls need to be taken into consideration when interpreting the results of a single-cell transplantation experiment. Genetic lineage tracing tools such as the Brainbow system are powerful alternative methods to trace the potential of single Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells (Livet et al., 2007; Weissman and Pan, 2015). For example, using the *hlf* gene as a driver in putative stem cells, the Brainbow system could reveal the diversity of potentials within the *hlf*+/Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cells. Another option for singlecell genetic lineage tracing is the use of photoconvertible reporter proteins. In my experience, however, non-invasive photoconversion of single Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells is challenging due to their inaccessible location among highly auto-fluorescent structures deep within the gastrodermal folds of *Nematostella*. Ultimately, addressing the heterogeneity or homogeneity of a stem cell population is challenging, and it remains under scrutiny even in well-researched organisms such as planarians, whose neoblasts have been known for decades (Alessandra and Rossi, 2019; Molina and Cebrià, 2021; Zeng et al., 2018).

1.3. The progeny of the Vasa2+/Piwi1+ adult stem-like cell population comprises germinal and somatic lineages

1.3.1. The germinal progeny

The continuity of *vasa2* and *piwi1* gene and protein expression from the two stem cell clusters in the primary mesenteries of primary polyps to the adult mesenteries strongly suggests that the germline derives from mesenterial Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem cells (Chen et al., 2020) (Paper I). Our scRNA-seq data, in addition, shows that a subpopulation of Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells express a high number of meiosis gene orthologs, thus likely consisting of premeiotic or meiotic oogonia (Paper II). The expression of meiosis marker genes in cells located in the reticulated tract, where also Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells are found, further supports that the germline derives from Vasa2+/Piwi1+ adult stem-like cells at the basis of the septal filament (Figure 9B, C). Assessing the colocalization of meiosis markers with Vasa2 could confirm this assumption and assess the proportion



Figure 9. A population of Vasa2+/Piwi1+ adult stem-like cells gives rise to the germline and progenitor cells of neurons, cnidoglandular tract and ciliated tract. (A) Drawing of a longitudinal section of an adult female illustrating the mesenterial location of stem-like cells (red), oocytes (yellow), cnidoglandular tract precursors (light blue) and gastrodermal neuronal progenitors (green). (B-B') Illustrations of cross sections of the gonadal (B) and trophic (B') regions of the mesentery portraying the location of stem-like cells, proliferative CT, CGT and neuronal progenitors, gland cells and growing oocytes. (C) Schematic depicting the relationships between the cell populations depicted in (B), proposed after transgenic reporter line and scRNA-seq analyses presented in this thesis. Some hypothesized relationships require further experimental evidence to be confirmed (dashed arrows, question marks). CGT: cnidoglandular tract; CT: ciliated tract; NPCs: neuronal progenitor cells; H.H1: *histone-H1* gene.

of Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells consisting of oogonia. The location where meiosis occurs remains to be assessed, for instance by detection of meiotic proteins (e.g. Sycp1) or meiosis-specific chromosomal arrangements (e.g. *bouquet*). In *Hydractinia*, a single transcription factor, AP2, is sufficient to induce germinal fate in i-cells (DuBuc et al., 2020). In our scRNA-seq analysis, the *Nematostella* AP2 ortholog is however not differentially expressed, and no expression was detected in adult gonadal mesenteries by ISH (data not shown). Thus, the molecular mechanisms inducing germline segregation and controlling the onset of meiosis gene expression in *Nematostella* remain unknown. The reporter lines described in this thesis will enable investigating the time and place of gametogenesis onset and the transition to sexual maturity in future experiments.

1.3.2. The somatic progeny comprises a diversity of progenitors

In **Paper I**, we have shown that vasa2::mOr2 and $piwi1^{P2A-GFP}$ reporter lines highlight an abundant population of somatic progeny cells in the gastrodermis of Nematostella juveniles and adults. We have also observed that many of these cells undergo S-phase, which has led us to propose them as mitotically dividing progenitor cells (i.e. transit amplifying cells). Both transgenic reporter lines label putative progeny cells that concentrate along the parietal muscle of each mesentery and the body wall gastrodermis (Paper I). These cells often display elongated shape and filopodia-like cell extensions, which suggests that they are migrating. Colocalization of soxB(2)::mOr2 with GFP(-P2A-Piwi1) (Paper I) and vasa2::mOr2 with prdm14d::GFP (data not shown) occurs in cells along the parietal muscle and gastrodermal body wall, which leads us to propose that a subset of the progeny cells consist of neural progenitor cells (NPCs) (Figure 9A-B'). In addition, vasa2::mOr2 labelled highly proliferative progenitor cells at the distal ends of the ciliated tract and at the proximal cnidoglandular tract of the trophic mesentery (Paper I), which are likely represented in our scRNA-seq data within a *histone-h1(v1g8097)*+ subcluster (Paper II). The location of these vasa2::mOr2+ proliferative progenitors, together with shared marker genes with cnidoglandular clusters according to our scRNA-seq analysis, leads us to propose that they give rise to cells composing this tract such as gland cells (Figure 9B', C). The presence of *vasa2*::mOr2+ proliferative cells at the distal end of the ciliated tract suggests that these likely consist of ciliated tract progenitors (Figure 9B, C). Combining *vasa2*::mOr2 immunostaining with ISH for gland cell or ciliated tract marker genes could confirm these assumptions. In addition, scRNA-seq of FACS-sorted *vasa2*::mOr2+ cells could inform of a potential gland cell or ciliated tract fate within the somatic progeny of the Vasa2+/Piwi1+ adult stem-like cell population and further resolve the differentiation trajectories.

1.3.3. Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cells at the origin of post-larval neurogenesis

In *Nematostella*, neurogenesis has been mainly characterized during embryonic and larval development until the primary polyp stage. During embryonic and larval development, SoxB(2)+ neural progenitors give rise to cnidocytes, ganglion neurons, and a neuroglandular lineage of sensory-secretory neurons, gland cells and other neural cell types (Nakanishi et al., 2012; Richards and Rentzsch, 2014; Steger et al., 2022; Tournière et al., 2022). A subpopulation of SoxB(2)+ neural progenitors that are Prdm14d+ generate gastrodermal neurons that concentrate along the parietal muscle and in the body wall gastrodermis (Lemaître et al., 2022). Here, I have characterized the soxB(2)::mOr2 line in juveniles and adults, finding high levels of mOr2 in gastrodermal and ectodermal cells with differentiated neuronal shapes (e.g. sensory cilia, long axons) that concentrate along the parietal muscle region (Paper I). In addition, I have shown colocalization of low levels of soxB(2).:mOr2 protein and GFP(-P2A-Piwi1) protein in proliferating cells of the parietal and retractor muscle regions and body wall gastrodermis (Figure 9A-B'). These findings, together with the colocalization of vasa2::mOr2 and prdm14d::GFP in cells along the parietal muscle and gastrodermal body wall (data not shown) has led me to postulate that a subset of the progeny of Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cells consists of neural progenitor cells (Figure 9C). This is also supported by our scRNA-seq data, which shows that within a single cluster enriched for proliferation markers (ki67+) and GMP genes we find a subpopulation of Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cells and three subpopulations enriched for soxB(2), prdm14d and other neuronal transcription factor orthologs (Paper II).

In this work, I present that Vasa2+/Piwi1+ adult stem-like cells in the mesenteries are a potential cellular source for SoxB(2)-driven neurogenesis in juvenile and adults. Due to the cytoplasmic inheritance and stability of the mOr2 protein in the soxB(2)::mOr2 reporter line, it is difficult to discriminate between progenitor cells and differentiating neurons. I can therefore not confidently identify all SoxB(2)+ progenitor cells and assess if they completely colocalize with GFP(-P2A-Piwi1)+ cells. Thus, it remains unknown whether all or just a subset of SoxB(2)+ progenitor cells derive from Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells. A way to test if the Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cell population is the sole origin for SoxB(2)-driven neurogenesis in juveniles and adults would be to characterize the colocalization of SoxB(2) protein with GFP(-P2A-Piwi1) and vasa2::mOr2 by generating a SoxB(2) antibody or an endogenous SoxB(2) fusion protein reporter line.

It remains to be addressed whether the juvenile and adult SoxB(2)+ NPCs described here give rise to a similar array of cell types as during embryonic and larval development (e.g. cnidocytes, sensory neurons, gland cells, ganglion neurons) (Richards and Rentzsch, 2014; Steger et al., 2022; Tournière et al., 2022). A recent scRNA-seq data analysis that included all life stages of *Nematostella* has proposed that neurogenesis in juveniles and adults derives from a population of soxC+/soxB(2)+ NPCs that follows the same trajectories as during embryonic and larval neurogenesis (Steger et al., 2022). Yet, evidence from lineage tracing experiments is missing and the stem cell population upstream of soxC+/soxB(2)+ NPCs remains uncharacterized (Steger et al., 2022).

In this work, I propose that Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cells in the mesenteries give rise to SoxB(2)+ NPCs in juveniles and adults. Comparing my findings to published data on the protein and gene expression dynamics of *piwi1*, *vasa2* and *soxB(2)* genes during *Nematostella* embryonic and larval development reveals striking similarities that indicate that neurons might originate from undifferentiated, Vasa2+ cells during also during embryonic and larval neurogenesis (Figure 10A) (Chen et al., 2020; Extavour et al., 2005; Praher et al., 2017; Richards and Rentzsch, 2014). At blastula stages, Vasa2 protein is present ubiquitously (Chen et al., 2020; Praher et al., 2017), while



Figure 10. Hypothesis: undifferentiated Vasa2+ cells as a common origin for embryonic, larval and post-larval neurogenesis. (A, A') Schematics of longitudinal cross sections of developmental stages depicting published data on the location of Vasa2 protein (A, black dots), co-expression of GMP marker genes vasa2, vasa1, piwi1, piwi2 and tudor (A, red stripes or red cells), the location of soxB(2)+ neural progenitor cells (A', purple cells) and the diversity of their progeny (A'). (B, B') Diagrams portraying undifferentiated Vasa2+ cells as an hypothetical origin for embryonic, larval and post-larval soxB(2)-driven neurogenesis. A subset of larval endodermal cells retains vasa2+/piwi1+ expression and become adult stem-

like cells (Chen et al., 2020), which may recapitulate embryonic and larval *soxB(2)*-driven neurogenesis. Data in (A, A') from Chen et al., 2020; Extavour et al., 2005; Lemaître et al., 2022; Praher et al., 2017; Richards and Rentzsch, 2014; Tournière et al., 2020 and Tournière et al., 2022. SoxC/SoxB(2)-derived lineages in (B, B') as proposed in Steger et al., 2022. Relationships between cell populations in (B, B') supported by experimental evidence outlined in black; hypothetical relationships depicted by dashed, grey arrows and highlighted by question marks.

vasa2 and piwil mRNAs are not detected (Extavour et al., 2005) and a few cells start to express soxB(2) (Richards and Rentzsch, 2014) (Figure 10A-A'). At the onset of gastrulation, embryonic expression of *piwil*, vasa2 and other GMP genes is found orally in the presumptive endoderm and pharyngeal ectoderm (Extavour et al., 2005) (Figure 10A). During gastrulation, Vasa2 protein is gradually lost from the aboral ectoderm, while it is enriched in the invaginating endoderm (Chen et al., 2020; Praher et al., 2017) (Figure 10A). Complementary to Vasa2 protein loss, an abundance of soxB(2)+ cells is detected in the aboral half of the ectoderm, where neurogenesis of sensory neurons, gland cells and cnidocytes takes place (Nakanishi et al., 2012; Richards and Rentzsch, 2014; Tournière et al., 2022) (Figure 10A'). During larval development, vasa2 and piwil expression is gradually restricted to the endoderm and to two clusters of cells at the boundary with the pharyngeal ectoderm in the primary polyp (Chen et al., 2020) (Figure 10A). At the same time, soxB(2)+ progenitors and their *insm-1*+ and *prdm14d*+ progeny appear in the endoderm (Lemaître et al., 2022; Richards and Rentzsch, 2014; Tournière et al., 2022) (Figure 10A'). Thus, the gastrula and larval stages display a wave of GMP gene expression loss from the ectoderm and the gastrodermis that results in their restricted expression in two gastrodermal clusters of Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells. This dynamic loss of GMP gene expression seems to be followed by a complementary wave of soxB(2)-driven neurogenesis. These observations lead me to propose that Vasa2, and potentially other factors, may keep embryonic and larval cells in a multipotent, undifferentiated state that is abandoned once Vasa2 and GMP expression are lost and soxB(2)-driven neurogenesis ensues (Figure 10B). My findings suggest that a similar process takes place at post-larval stages. In juveniles and adults, neural progenitor cells derived from Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells likely lose Vasa2 and Piwi1 expression and start expressing soxB(2) (Paper I) while acquiring neural fate and giving rise to gastrodermal neurons (e.g. prdm14d+

neurons) (Figure 10B'). Neural progenitor cells derived from Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stemlike cells at post-larval stages may thus recapitulate embryonic and larval neurogenesis pathways (Figure 10B'), as suggested by trajectory reconstructions based on scRNAseq analysis (Steger et al., 2022). The combined analysis of *piwi1^{mOr2}*, *piwi1^{P2A-GFP}*, *vasa2::mOr2* and *soxB(2)::mOr2* reporter lines during embryonic and larval development could test if GMP gene expression declines complementary to the progression of neurogenesis on a cellular level. In conclusion, Vasa2+ cells may be a common origin of neurons at embryonic, larval and post-larval stages in *Nematostella*. These Vasa2+ cells would correspond to the theorized primordial stem cells (PriSC), which are characterized by the presence of GMP marker genes such as *vasa* and *piwi*, and by holding both germinal and somatic potential (Solana, 2013).

1.3.4. The source of epidermal cells in Nematostella

Remarkably, all the reporter lines presented in this work (i.e. *piwil^{mOr2}*, *piwil^{P2A-GFP}* and vasa2::mOr2) highlighted cells in the epidermis of Nematostella juvenile and adult polyps (Paper I, Figure S9). This was surprising given that neither *piwil* nor *vasa2* mRNA or protein could be detected in the epidermis. The presence of the fusion protein mOr2-Piwil in the epidermis reveals active expression of *piwil* in these cells, suggesting that *piwil* and *vasa2* mRNA levels may be below the ISH detection threshold. A more in-depth characterization of GFP and mOr2 expression by ISH in transgenic reporter juvenile and adult polyps could further inform us of the logic behind the epidermal signal. Whether the epidermis constitutes a separate stem cell lineage, independent from the mesenterial Vasa2+/Piwi1+ adult stem-like cells, remains to be resolved. This question could be addressed by generating a reporter line for *hlf*, which based on our scRNA-seq analysis is highly specific for the Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cell subpopulation, to study if reporter protein is cytoplasmically inherited by epidermal cells. Ultimately, transplantation of transgenic mesentery of *piwil*^{P2A-GFP} and vasa2::mOr2 polyps into a wild-type host and subsequent analysis of the epidermis could reveal if mesenterial Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cells constitute a cell source for the epidermis.

1.4. Potential roles during growth, homeostasis and regeneration

As other enidarians, *Nematostella* displays high body plasticity. It grows and shrinks in response to food availability (K. Garschall, in preparation) or performs whole-body regeneration from buds or amputated sections of the body column. Adult stem cells are key sources for growth and regeneration processes in other similarly plastic animals such as hydrozoans (*Hydra*, *Hydractinia*), acoels or planarians (Bosch, 2007; Gahan et al., 2016; Gehrke and Srivastava, 2016; Srivastava, 2022; Wagner et al., 2011). Thus, it is likely that Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cells are one of the key cell populations underlying body plasticity in *Nematostella*.

Founder cells of the Vasa2+/Piwi1+ adult stem-like cell population have been described to proliferate and migrate into the emerging mesenteries of young juvenile polyps (Chen et al., 2020). I have shown that Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells are present along the entirety of juvenile and adult mesenteries (**Paper I**), suggesting that their presence is required broadly. In addition, the abundance of somatic progeny from Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells in the juvenile gastrodermis (**Paper I**, **Figure S7A''**) has led me to propose that the Vasa2+/Piwi1+ adult stem-like cell population contributes significantly to juvenile growth by continuously generating new cells (e.g. neurons and other somatic cell types). The ability of *Nematostella* to shrink its body size while starving and to explosively regrow when food is available (K. Garschall, *in preparation*) may also rely on Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cells and their progeny. The response of Vasa2+/Piwi1+ adult stem-like cells to feeding and starvation is currently being investigated by colleagues.

To test the role of Vasa+/Piwi1+ stem-like cells during growth and germline segregation, I am analyzing *Nematostella vasa2* mutant animals generated by C-Y. Chen (Matt Gibson's lab, Kansas City, USA). Preliminary data suggests that *vasa2-/-* animals lack Vasa2+/Piwi1+ PriSCs and are unable to grow beyond the primary polyp stage after feeding (C-Y. Chen, personal communication). If validated, this observation would further confirm that Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells in primary polyps do not consist of PGCs with restricted germinal potential but of PriSCs necessary for generating somatic lineages and essential for the initiation of juvenile growth.

Nematostella is used as research organism to understand animal whole-body regeneration (Amiel et al., 2015; Layden et al., 2016; Passamaneck and Martindale, 2012; Reitzel et al., 2007; Röttinger, 2021). It has been shown that populations of fast and slowly cycling, potential stem cells of unknown cellular identity play key roles during regeneration (Amiel et al., 2019). Interestingly, transplantation experiments have shown that a combination of mesentery and body wall tissue is sufficient for regeneration to take place, while these tissues fail to regenerate separately (Amiel et al., 2019). In addition, the presence of mesentery tissue is required for cell proliferation to take place in the regenerates, and thus the mesentery has been proposed as a potential source of signals and/or cells needed for regeneration (Amiel et al., 2019). Accordingly, the Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cells and progeny described in this work may constitute the hypothesized mesenterial cells required for whole-body regeneration as in *Nematostella*. This assumption remains to be tested, for instance by the analysis of *vasa2* and *piwi1* transgenic reporter polyps after mesentery and body wall grafting experiments, body column bisection or tentacle amputation. Asexual reproduction by transverse fission (i.e. physal pinching) resembles the process of regeneration, and it would therefore also be interesting to study vasa2 and piwil transgenic reporter lines during bud regeneration.

In bisected primary polyps, aboral portions lacking the two clusters of Vasa2+/Piwi1+ founder stem-like cells were able to completely regenerate pharynx and tentacles 8 days after amputation, while Vasa2+ cells were not restored (Chen et al., 2020). While this observation suggests that Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells may not be needed during the regeneration of primary polyps, it may be a unique property of animals at this stage. In addition, it is unknown if Vasa2+ cells were eventually restored in the aboral regenerates, and if the resulting animals were viable and fertile.

In conclusion, mesenterial Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cells and their progeny are likely key players during growth and regeneration in *Nematostella*. This assumption will be tested in future studies.

2. Adult stem cells with germ/soma potential are likely an ancestral trait of cnidarians

2.1. Adult stem cells are poorly characterized in other anthozoan cnidarians

There is scarce molecular data about ASCs in anthozoans (e.g. corals, sea anemones, sea pens), with the stony coral Euphyllia ancora (Hexacorallia) as the best characterized species to date. Contrary to Nematostella, E. ancora presents a yearly gametogenic cycle, displaying a single round of synchronous gametogenesis per year. This allows to easily trace gametogenesis from its onset to the spawning of all mature gametes (Shikina et al., 2012). In this species, Vasa2 and Piwi1 immunostaining has revealed a population of small Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells, proposed as germline stem cells, locating to the mesenteries of male and female individuals throughout the gametogenic cycle (Shikina et al., 2015). In light of the results presented in this thesis, I hypothesize that Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells in *E. ancora* may hold not only germinal but also somatic potential. Remarkably, Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells localize between the basis of the septal filament and the retractor muscle in *E. ancora*, corresponding to the location where Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells are found in Nematostella. Thus, I postulate that the location of Vasa2+/Piwi1+ adult stem-like cells in this defined region of the mesenteries may be a conserved feature of hexacorallians. It would also be interesting to explore whether ASCs are also found within the so far uncharacterized gastrodermal folds of of octocoral, sycphozoan, cubozoan and staurozoan polyps.

Recent genomic studies have provided strong evidence supporting the presence of stem cells with both germinal and somatic potential in adult stony coral colonies by showing that single nucleotide variants (SNV) specific to different branches of a coral colony are transferred to the germline (López-Nandam et al., 2021; Vasquez Kuntz et al., 2020). Finding the same SNVs acquired during adult growth in both somatic tissues and gametes demonstrates that they must be derived from a common adult stem cell population (López-Nandam et al., 2021).

In conclusion, while ASCs remain poorly characterized in other anthozoan cnidarians, the available data supports the presence across hexacorallians of ASCs with dual
germ/soma potential expressing GMP marker genes such as *vasa* and *piwi* orthologs, likely locating to the mesenteries.

2.2. Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cells in *Nematostella* are likely homologous to hydrozoan interstitial stem cells

Interstitial stem cells (i.e. i-cells) have so far been considered a hydrozoan-specific trait as comparable stem cells have not been found in any non-hydrozoan cnidarians (Technau and Steele, 2011). I-cells have been characterized in a few hydrozoan jellyfish species (Carnea, 2004; Fujita et al., 2022; Leclère et al., 2012), but most knowledge stems from studies on exclusively sessile hydrozoan polyps such as *Hydra* and *Hydractinia*.

In this thesis, I have shown several cellular features of *Nematostella* Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cells that resemble those of hydrozoan i-cells. They both exhibit a small cell size, a high nucleus to cytoplasm ratio and their small numbers throughout the polyp (Frank et al., 2009). I-cells constitute about 4% of all cells in a *Hydra* polyp (David and MacWilliams, 1978). Preliminary flow cytometry data analyzing the proportion of mOr-Piwi1+ cells in juvenile *piwi1^{mOr2}* polyps shows that Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cells represent approx. 0,34% of all cells in a *Nematostella* juvenile (E. Pascual, unpublished), thus representing <10% of the abundance of *Hydra* i-cells.

Both *Hydra* i-cells and *Nematostella* Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells are found in interstitial and/or basiepithelial locations. However, while Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells in *Nematostella* locate within the gastrodermal folds (**Paper I**), i-cells reside within the epidermis of hydrozoans. When it comes to embryonic development, *Hydractinia* i-cells arise in the endoderm and migrate into the epidermis at the end of the larval stage, when settlement takes place (Rebscher et al., 2008). Thus, both i-cells and Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cells appear to share a developmental origin in the endoderm (Chen et al., 2020; Extavour et al., 2005).

While i-cells concentrate in certain regions of the organism (e.g. middle band of the polyp epidermis, tentacle bulb in jellyfish), they are in comparison more broadly distributed than *Nematostella* Vasa2+/Piwi1+ cells, which locate to a precisely defined

region within the mesenteries. The existence of a niche has not been described outside of Bilateria, and, interestingly, such microenvironments appear to be absent in animals presenting ASCs with germ/soma potential (e.g. *Hydra*, planarians) (Bosch et al., 2010; Martinez et al., 2022; Rossi and Salvetti, 2019). Whether a niche-like, regulative microenvironment is present in the defined mesenterial region where the Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cells locate in *Nematostella* remains to be explored.

I-cells and Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cells in *Nematostella* also share the enrichment of GMP genes such as *piwi* and *vasa* (Leclère et al., 2012; Lim et al., 2014; Mochizuki et al., 2001; Rebscher et al., 2008). Other additional i-cell marker genes, such as *nanos* and *myc* gene orthologs (Mochizuki et al., 2000; Plickert et al., 2012), are rather expressed in somatic progenitor cell states in *Nematostella* according to our scRNA-seq data (**Paper II**). Comparing the scRNA-seq transcriptomic signature of *Hydra* i-cells (Siebert et al., 2019) and *Nematostella* Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cells (**Paper II**) could further inform of shared genes and potentially find cnidarian-specific stem cell genes.

We have shown that the Vasa2+/Piwi1+ adult stem-like cell population in *Nematostella* presents both germinal and neural potential (**Paper I**), a feature shared with hydrozoan i-cells (David, 2012; Müller et al., 2004; Siebert et al., 2019). I-cell-based neurogenesis is driven by *soxC* and *soxB* orthologs, and involves neuroglandular progenitor cells (Chrysostomou et al., 2022; Flici et al., 2017; Jager et al., 2011b; Siebert et al., 2019). These features are also found during *Nematostella* embryonic and larval development and supposedly also at post-larval stages (Richards and Rentzsch, 2014; Steger et al., 2022; Tournière et al., 2022), which suggests that adult neurogenesis may be highly similar between hydrozoans and *Nematostella*. Additionally, i-cells give rise to cnidocytes, gland cells and, in the case of *Hydractinia*, to epithelial cell types. The pluripotency of a single i-cell has only recently been demonstrated in *Hydractinia* (Varley et al., 2022). *Hydra* i-cells, in contrast, are considered multipotent as they do not contribute to the two epithelial lineages (Hemmrich et al., 2012). Whether the potential of *Nematostella* Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cells comprises cnidocytes, gland cells and epithelial cells remains unknown. The level of potency of Vasa2+/Piwi1+

stem-like cells and how it compares to hydrozoan i-cells thus remains to be elucidated (see also section 1.2).

Hydrozoan i-cell populations have been proposed to be heterogeneous (Plickert et al., 2012), with *Hydra* presenting a germline-restricted subpopulation (Littlefield, 1985; Littlefield, 1991; Nishimiya-Fujisawa C. and Sugiyama, 1993). So far, I have found no evidence for the similar presence of a germline-restricted stem cell subpopulation within the Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cell population in *Nematostella* (see section 1.2).

In conclusion, I propose that the mesenterial Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cells of *Nematostella* presented in this work are likely homologous to hydrozoan i-cells. Further characterization of Vasa2+/Piwi1+ stem-like cells in *Nematostella*, together with studies in other non-hydrozoan cnidarians, will continue to reveal conserved and novel features of ASCs across cnidarians that will allow to reconstruct their evolutionary history.

3. The evolution of adult stem cells and body plasticity in animals

So far, populations of ASCs with germ/soma potential have been described in highly regenerative bilaterian (e.g. botrylloid ascidians, acoels and planarians) and nonbilaterian animals (e.g. sponges, hydrozoan cnidarians and, as shown here, in the anthozoan *Nematostella vectensis*), revealing a clear link between the presence of these cells and high body plasticity. Conversely, animals with low or absent body plasticity such as insects, nematodes and vertebrates lack ASCs with germ/soma potential (see introduction for more details). The distribution of adult PriSCs across the animal tree has led to propose two potential evolutionary scenarios: (1) The presence of ASCs with germ/soma potential is an ancestral trait of Metazoa that was lost in ecdysozoan and vertebrate lineages; (2) the embryonic segregation of germline and soma is ancestral to animals, and ASCs with germ/soma potential have been acquired independently in sponges, cnidarians, planarians, acoels and botrylloid ascidians. The high body plasticity of non-bilaterians and the presence of ASCs with germ/soma potential in sponges and hydrozoan cnidarians suggest that these may be common traits among non-bilaterian animals, which would support the first scenario. My findings indicate that ASCs with germ/soma potential may be an ancestral trait to cnidarians, further supporting this assumption. In Bilateria, however, the presence of ASCs with germ/soma potential has only been demonstrated in planarians, botrylloid ascidians and acoels. While descriptions of elevated body plasticity in annelids or feather stars indicate that these animals may present ASCs with germ/soma potential, further evidence is needed. Recently, a study on diverse planarian species has shown that whole-body regeneration may not be ancestral to this phyla, suggesting the independent evolution of this trait along different planarian lineages (Vila-Farré et al., 2022). Altogether, the lack of data available on ASCs in a diversity of non-bilaterian and bilaterian phyla renders the question of ASC evolution currently difficult to resolve. Future studies addressing the presence and potential of ASCs in phyla such as ctenophores, staurozoans and scyphozoan cnidarians, and in diverse taxa within bilaterian phyla will allow a better understanding of ASC evolution.

4. Lessons from animal adult stem cells and potential applications

Independently of the evolutionary history of animal ASCs, the genetic toolkit underlying adult pluripotency and germ cell determination (i.e. GMP marker genes such as vasa and piwi) appears highly conserved across the animal tree. While in ecdysozoans and vertebrates, most of these genes are specifically expressed in the germline after embryogenesis, some have been shown to be expressed in somatic tissues in certain adult contexts. An example is cancer development, in which cells acquire the ability to indefinitely proliferate and become metastasizing by reactivating germline/multipotency genes such as *vasa* and pl10 orthologs in a process known as gametic recapitulation (De Keuckelaere et al., 2018; Janic et al., 2010; Kerr et al., 2019; Poon et al., 2016; Pryszlak et al., 2021; Ross et al., 2014). The blastema of uniquely regenerative vertebrate animals such as the axolotl constitutes another example where genes such as *piwi* orthologs are upregulated and required for limb regeneration (Zhu et al., 2012). Remarkably, induced pluripotent stem cells also display an upregulation of vasa and piwi genes (Mikkelsen et al., 2008). Research of ASCs in organisms able to perform whole-body regeneration while avoiding cancer can thus help elucidating key molecular mechanisms regulating adult pluripotency, normally latent in ecdysozoan and vertebrate lineages, and, eventually, open paths for the development of cancer treatments and stem cell-based regenerative therapies (Kukhanova et al., 2020; Lai and Aboobaker, 2018; Oviedo and Beane, 2009).

Bibliography

- Alessandra, S. and Rossi, L. (2019). Planarian stem cell heterogeneity. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 1123, 39–54.
- Alié, A., Leclère, L., Jager, M., Dayraud, C., Chang, P., Le Guyader, H., Quéinnec, E. and Manuel, M. (2011). Somatic stem cells express Piwi and Vasa genes in an adult ctenophore: Ancient association of "germline genes" with stemness. *Dev. Biol.* 350, 183–197.
- Alié, A., Hayashi, T., Sugimura, I., Manuel, M., Sugano, W., Mano, A., Satoh, N., Agata, K. and Funayama, N. (2015). The ancestral gene repertoire of animal stem cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 112, E7093-100.
- Amiel, A. R., Johnston, H. T., Nedoncelle, K., Warner, J. F., Ferreira, S. and Röttinger, E. (2015). Characterization of morphological and cellular events underlying oral regeneration in the sea anemone, Nematostella vectensis. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 16, 28449–28471.
- Amiel, A. R., Foucher, K., Ferreira, S. and Röttinger, E. (2019). Synergic coordination of stem cells is required to induce a regenerative response in anthozoan enidarians. *bioRxiv*.
- Anderson, D. J., Gage, F. H. and Weissman, I. L. (2001). Can stem cells cross lineage boundaries? Nat. Med. 7, 393–395.
- André, J. and Rouiller, C. H. (1956). L'ultrastructure de la membrane nucléaire des ovocytes del l'araignée (Tegenaria domestica Clark). In Proc. European Conf. Electron Microscopy, Stokholm, Acad. Press, New York, pp. 162–164.
- Atkinson, S. D., Bartholomew, J. L. and Lotan, T. (2018). Myxozoans: Ancient metazoan parasites find a home in phylum Cnidaria. Zoology 129, 66–68.
- Baguna, J., Saló, E. and Auladell, C. (1989). Regeneration and pattern formation in planarians. III. Evidence that neoblasts are totipotent stem cells and the source of blastema cells. *Development* 107, 77–86.
- Balinsky, B. I. (1966). Changes in the ultrastructure of amphibian eggs following fertilization. Acta Embryol. Morphol. Exp. 9, 132–154.
- Barreau, C., Paillard, L., Méreau, A. and Osborne, H. B. (2006). Mammalian CELF/Bruno-like RNA-binding proteins: molecular characteristics and biological functions. *Biochimie* 88, 515– 525.
- Bode, H. R. (1996). The interstitial cell lineage of hydra: a stem cell system that arose early in evolution. J. Cell Sci. 109, 1155–1164.
- Bode, H. R., Dunne, J., Heimfeld, S., Huang, L., Javois, L., Koizumi, O., Westerfield, J. and Yaross, M. (1986). Transdifferentiation occurs continuously in adult hydra. *Curr. Top. Dev. Biol.* 20, 257–280.
- Borowiec, M. L., Lee, E. K., Chiu, J. C. and Plachetzki, D. C. (2015). Extracting phylogenetic signal and accounting for bias in whole-genome data sets supports the Ctenophora as sister to remaining Metazoa. *BMC Genomics* 16, 987.
- Bosch, T. C. G. (2007). Why polyps regenerate and we don't: towards a cellular and molecular framework for Hydra regeneration. *Dev. Biol.* 303, 421–433.

- Bosch, T. C. G. (2008). Stem Cells: From Hydra to Man. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Bosch, T. C. G. (2009). Hydra and the evolution of stem cells. *Bioessays* 31, 478-486.
- Bosch, T. C. G. and David, C. N. (1987). Stem cells of Hydra magnipapillata can differentiate into somatic cells and germ line cells. *Dev. Biol.* 121, 182–191.
- Bosch, T. C. G. G., Anton-Erxleben, F., Hemmrich, G. and Khalturin, K. (2010). The hydra polyp: Nothing but an active stem cell community. *Dev. Growth Differ.* 52, 15–25.
- Brunn, A. v. (1876). Beiträge zur Entwicklungsgeschichte der Samenkörper. Archiv für mikroskopische Anatomie 12, 528–535.
- Burgos, M. H. and Fawcett, D. W. (1955). Studies on the fine structure of the mammalian testis. I. Differentiation of the spermatids in the cat (Felis domestica). J. Biophys. Biochem. Cytol. 1, 287–300.
- Candia-Carnevali, M. D., Thorndyke, M. C. and Matranga, V. (2009). Regenerating echinoderms: A promise to understand stem cells potential. In *Stem Cells in Marine Organisms*, pp. 165– 186. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands.
- Cannon, J. T., Vellutini, B. C., Smith, J., Ronquist, F., Jondelius, U. and Hejnol, A. (2016). Xenacoelomorpha is the sister group to Nephrozoa. *Nature* **530**, 89–93.
- Carnea, P. (2004). The germ line and somatic stem cell gene Cniwi in the jellyfish. *Int. J. Dev. Biol.* 48, 1–7.
- Chang, T.-C. and Liu, W.-S. (2010). The molecular evolution of PL10 homologs. *BMC Evol. Biol.* 10, 127.
- Chekulaeva, M., Hentze, M. W. and Ephrussi, A. (2006). Bruno acts as a dual repressor of oskar translation, promoting mRNA oligomerization and formation of silencing particles. *Cell* 124, 521–533.
- Chen, C. Y., Mckinney, S. A., Ellington, L. R. and Gibson, M. C. (2020). Hedgehog signaling is required for endomesodermal patterning and germ cell development in Nematostella vectensis. *Elife* 9, 1–27.
- Chen, R., Sanders, S. M., Ma, Z., Paschall, J., Chang, E. S., Riscoe, B. M., Schnitzler, C. E., Baxevanis, A. D. and Nicotra, M. L. (2022). XY sex determination in a cnidarian. *bioRxiv* 2022.03.22.485406.
- Chrysostomou, E., Flici, H., Gornik, S. G., Salinas-Saavedra, M., Gahan, J. M., McMahon, E. T., Thompson, K., Hanley, S., Kincoyne, M., Schnitzler, C. E., et al. (2022). A cellular and molecular analysis of SoxB-driven neurogenesis in a cnidarian. *Elife* 11,.
- Clevers, H. and Watt, F. M. (2018). Defining adult stem cells by function, not by phenotype. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 87, 1015–1027.
- Collins, L. J. and Penny, D. (2009). The RNA infrastructure: dark matter of the eukaryotic cell? *Trends Genet.* 25, 120–128.

- Cox, D. N., Chao, A., Baker, J., Chang, L., Qiao, D. and Lin, H. (1998). A novel class of evolutionarily conserved genes defined by piwi are essential for stem cell self-renewal. *Genes Dev.* 12, 3715–3727.
- Czech, B. and Hannon, G. J. (2016). One loop to rule them all: The ping-pong cycle and piRNAguided silencing. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 41, 324–337.
- Dailey, S. C., Febrero Planas, R., Rossell Espier, A., Garcia-Fernàndez, J. and Somorjai, I. M. L. (2016). Asymmetric distribution of pl10 and bruno2, new members of a conserved core of early germline determinants in cephalochordates. *Front. Ecol. Evol.* 3,.
- Daly, M., Fautin, D. G. and Cappola, V. A. (2003). Systematics of the Hexacorallia (Cnidaria: Anthozoa). Zool. J. Linn. Soc. 139, 419–437.
- David, C. N. (2012). Interstitial stem cells in Hydra: Multipotency and decision-making. Int. J. Dev. Biol. 56, 489–497.
- David, C. N. and MacWilliams, H. (1978). Regulation of the self-renewal probability in Hydra stem cell clones. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 75, 886–890.
- David, C. N. and Murphy, S. (1977). Characterization of interstitial stem cells in hydra by cloning. Dev. Biol. 58, 372–383.
- David, C. N. and Plotnick, I. (1980). Distribution of interstitial stem cells in Hydra. *Dev. Biol.* 76, 175–184.
- De Keuckelaere, E., Hulpiau, P., Saeys, Y., Berx, G. and van Roy, F. (2018). Nanos genes and their role in development and beyond. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 75, 1929–1946.
- De Mulder, K., Kuales, G., Pfister, D., Willems, M., Egger, B., Salvenmoser, W., Thaler, M., Gorny, A.-K., Hrouda, M., Borgonie, G., et al. (2009). Characterization of the stem cell system of the acoel Isodiametra pulchra. *BMC Dev. Biol.* 9, 69.
- DeBiasse, M., Buckenmeyer, A., Macrander, J., Babonis, L., Bentlage, B. S., Cartwright, P., Prada, C., Reitzel, A. M., Stampar, S., Collins, A., et al. (2022). A cnidarian phylogenomic tree fitted with hundreds of 18S leaves. *bioRxiv* 2022.10.03.510641.
- Del Olmo, I., Verdes, A. and Álvarez-Campos, P. (2022). Distinct patterns of gene expression during regeneration and asexual reproduction in the annelid Pristina leidyi. J. Exp. Zool. B Mol. Dev. Evol. 338, 405–420.
- Diehl, F. A. and Burnett, A. L. (1964). The role of interstitial cells in the maintenance of hydra. I. Specific destruction of interstitial cells in normal, asexual, non-budding animals. J. Exp. Zool. 155, 253–259.
- Dill, K. K. and Seaver, E. C. (2008). Vasa and nanos are coexpressed in somatic and germ line tissue from early embryonic cleavage stages through adulthood in the polychaete Capitella sp. I. Dev. Genes Evol. 218, 453–463.
- Drummond-Barbosa, D. (2008). Stem cells, their niches and the systemic environment: an aging network. *Genetics* 180, 1787–1797.

- DuBuc, T. Q., Schnitzler, C. E., Chrysostomou, E., McMahon, E. T., Febrimarsa, Gahan, J. M., Buggie, T., Gornik, S. G., Hanley, S., Barreira, S. N., et al. (2020). Transcription factor AP2 controls enidarian germ cell induction. *Science* 367, 757–762.
- Eckelbarger, K. J., Hand, C. and Uhlinger, K. R. (2008). Ultrastructural features of the trophonema and oogenesis in the starlet sea anemone, Nematostella vectensis (Edwardsiidae). *Invertebr. Biol.* 127, 381–395.
- Eddy, E. M. (1974). Fine structural observations on the form and distribution of nuage in germ cells of the rat. *Anat. Rec.* **178**, 731–757.
- Eddy, E. M. and Ito, S. (1971). Fine structural and radioautographic observations on dense perinuclear cytoplasmic material in tadpole oocytes. J. Cell Biol. 49, 90–108.
- Edgar, A., Mitchell, D. G. and Martindale, M. Q. (2021). Whole-Body Regeneration in the Lobate Ctenophore Mnemiopsis leidyi. *Genes* 12,.
- Ereskovsky, A. V. (2010). The Comparative Embryology of Sponges. Springer, Dordrecht.
- Ereskovsky, A. V., Borisenko, I. E., Lapébie, P., Gazave, E., Tokina, D. B. and Borchiellini, C. (2015). Oscarella lobularis (Homoscleromorpha, Porifera) Regeneration: Epithelial Morphogenesis and Metaplasia. *PLoS One* 10, e0134566.
- Ewen-Campen, B., Schwager, E. E. and Extavour, C. G. M. (2010). The molecular machinery of germ line specification. *Mol. Reprod. Dev.* 77, 3–18.
- Extavour, C. G. (2005). The fate of isolated blastomeres with respect to germ cell formation in the amphipod crustacean Parhyale hawaiensis. *Dev. Biol.* 277, 387–402.
- Extavour, C. G. and Akam, M. (2003). Mechanisms of germ cell specification across the metazoans: epigenesis and preformation. *Development* 130, 5869–5884.
- Extavour, C. G., Pang, K., Matus, D. Q. and Martindale, M. Q. (2005). Vasa and Nanos Expression Patterns in a Sea Anemone and the Evolution of Bilaterian Germ Cell Specification Mechanisms. *Evolution and Development* 7, 201–215.
- Fabioux, C., Huvet, A., Lelong, C., Robert, R., Pouvreau, S., Daniel, J. Y., Minguant, C. and Le Pennec, M. (2004). Oyster vasa-like gene as a marker of the germline cell development in Crassostrea gigas. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 320, 592–598.
- Ferraro, F., Celso, C. L. and Scadden, D. (2010). Adult stem cells and their niches. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 695, 155–168.
- Fierro-Constaín, L., Schenkelaars, Q., Gazave, E., Haguenauer, A., Rocher, C., Ereskovsky, A., Borchiellini, C. and Renard, E. (2017). The conservation of the germline multipotency program, from sponges to vertebrates: A stepping stone to understanding the somatic and germline origins. *Genome Biol. Evol.* 9, 474–488.
- Flici, H., Schnitzler, C. E., Millane, R. C., Govinden, G., Houlihan, A., Boomkamp, S. D., Shen, S., Baxevanis, A. D. and Frank, U. (2017). An Evolutionarily Conserved SoxB-Hdac2 Crosstalk Regulates Neurogenesis in a Cnidarian. *Cell Rep.* 18, 1395–1409.
- Frank, P. and Bleakney, J. S. (1976). Histology and sexual reproduction of the anemone Nematostella vectensis, Stephenson 1935. J. Nat. Hist. 10, 441–449.

- Frank, U., Plickert, G. and Müller, W. A. (2009). Cnidarian Interstitial Cells: The Dawn of Stem Cell Research. In *Stem Cells in Marine Organisms* (ed. Rinkevich, B.) and Matranga, V.), pp. 33–59. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands.
- Fritz, I. B. (1986). Reflections on the evolution of the regulation of spermatogenesis. Prog. Clin. Biol. Res. 226, 371–388.
- Fritzenwanker, J. H. and Technau, U. (2002). Induction of gametogenesis in the basal cnidarian Nematostella vectensis (Anthozoa). Dev. Genes Evol. 212, 99–103.
- Fritzenwanker, J. H., Genikhovich, G., Kraus, Y. and Technau, U. (2007). Early development and axis specification in the sea anemone Nematostella vectensis. *Dev. Biol.* 310, 264–279.
- Fujita, M. K., Singhal, S., Brunes, T. O. and Maldonado, J. A. (2020). Evolutionary dynamics and consequences of parthenogenesis in vertebrates. *Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst.* 51, 191–214.
- Fujita, S., Kuranaga, E., Miura, M. and Nakajima, Y.-I. (2022). Fluorescent in situ hybridization and 5-ethynyl-2'-deoxyuridine labeling for stem-like cells in the hydrozoan jellyfish Cladonema pacificum. J. Vis. Exp.
- Funayama, N. (2013). The stem cell system in demosponges: suggested involvement of two types of cells: archeocytes (active stem cells) and choanocytes (food-entrapping flagellated cells). Dev. Genes Evol. 223, 23–38.
- Funayama, N., Nakatsukasa, M., Mohri, K., Masuda, Y. and Agata, K. (2010). Piwi expression in archeocytes and choanocytes in demosponges: Insights into the stem cell system in demosponges. Evolution and Development 12, 275–287.
- Gahan, J. M., Bradshaw, B., Flici, H. and Frank, U. (2016). The interstitial stem cells in Hydractinia and their role in regeneration. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* 40, 65–73.
- Gao, M. and Arkov, A. L. (2013). Next generation organelles: structure and role of germ granules in the germline. *Mol. Reprod. Dev.* 80, 610–623.
- Gazave, E., Béhague, J., Laplane, L., Guillou, A., Préau, L., Demilly, A., Balavoine, G. and Vervoort, M. (2013). Posterior elongation in the annelid Platynereis dumerilii involves stem cells molecularly related to primordial germ cells. *Dev. Biol.* 382, 246–267.
- Gehrke, A. R. and Srivastava, M. (2016). Neoblasts and the evolution of whole-body regeneration. *Current Opinion in Genetics and Development* **40**, 131–137.
- Genikhovich, G. and Technau, U. (2009a). Bromodeoxyuridine labeling of S-phase nuclei in the starlet sea anemone nematostella vectensis. *Cold Spring Harb. Protoc.* 4, 10–12.
- Genikhovich, G. and Technau, U. (2009b). The starlet sea anemone Nematostella vectensis: an anthozoan model organism for studies in comparative genomics and functional evolutionary developmental biology. *Cold Spring Harb. Protoc.* 2009, db.emo129.
- Genikhovich, G. and Technau, U. (2009c). In situ hybridization of starlet sea anemone (Nematostella vectensis) embryos, larvae, and polyps. *Cold Spring Harb. Protoc.* 2009, db.prot5282.
- Genikhovich, G. and Technau, U. (2009d). Anti-acetylated tubulin antibody staining and phalloidin staining in the starlet sea anemone Nematostella vectensis. *Cold Spring Harb. Protoc.* 2009, db.prot5283.

- Genikhovich, G. and Technau, U. (2009e). Induction of Spawning in the Starlet Sea Anemone Nematostella vectensis, In Vitro Fertilization of Gametes, and Dejellying of Zygotes. *Cold Spring Harb. Protoc.* 2009, db.prot5281-pdb.prot5281.
- Giani, V. C., Yamaguchi, E., Boyle, M. J. and Seaver, E. C. (2011). Somatic and germline expression of piwi during development and regeneration in the marine polychaete annelid Capitella teleta. *Evodevo* 2, 10.
- Glynn, P. W., Coffman, B., Primov, K., Renegar, D. A., Gross, J., Blackwelder, P., Martinez, N., Dominguez, J., Vanderwoude, J. and Riegl, B. M. (2019). Benthic ctenophore (Order Platyctenida) reproduction, recruitment, and seasonality in south Florida. *Invertebr. Biol.* 138,.
- Gold, D. A. and Jacobs, D. K. (2013). Stem cell dynamics in Cnidaria: Are there unifying principles? Dev. Genes Evol. 223, 53–66.
- Gonzalez, L. E., Tang, X. and Lin, H. (2021). Maternal Piwi regulates primordial germ cell development to ensure the fertility of female progeny in Drosophila. *Genetics* **219**,.
- Good, P. J., Chen, Q., Warner, S. J. and Herring, D. C. (2000). A family of human RNA-binding proteins related to the Drosophila Bruno translational regulator. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 28583– 28592.
- Guo, T., Peters, A. H. F. M. and Newmark, P. A. (2006). A Bruno-like gene is required for stem cell maintenance in planarians. Dev. Cell 11, 159–169.
- **Gupta, S. and Santoro, R.** (2020). Regulation and Roles of the Nucleolus in Embryonic Stem Cells: From Ribosome Biogenesis to Genome Organization. *Stem Cell Reports* **15**, 1206–1219.
- Gustafson, E. A. and Wessel, G. M. (2010). Vasa genes: Emerging roles in the germ line and in multipotent cells. *Bioessays* 32, 626–637.
- Haccard, O. and Jessus, C. (2006). Oocyte maturation, mos and cyclins: A matter of synthesis. *Cell Cycle* 5, 1152–1159.
- Han, Z., Zhang, Q., Zhu, Y., Chen, J. and Li, W. (2020). Ribosomes: An exciting avenue in stem cell research. Stem Cells Int. 2020, 8863539.
- Hand, C. and Uhlinger, K. R. (1992). The Culture, Sexual and Asexual Reproduction, and Growth of the Sea Anemone Nematostella vectensis. *Biol. Bull.* 182, 169–176.
- Hand, C. and Uhlinger, K. R. (1994). The unique, widely distributed, estuarine sea anemone, Nematostella vectensis Stephenson: A review, new facts, and questions. *Estuaries* 17, 501.
- Hartung, O., Forbes, M. M. and Marlow, F. L. (2014). Zebrafish vasa is required for germ-cell differentiation and maintenance. *Mol. Reprod. Dev.* 81, 946–961.
- Hashimoto, Y., Suzuki, H., Kageyama, Y., Yasuda, K. and Inoue, K. (2006). Bruno-like protein is localized to zebrafish germ plasm during the early cleavage stages. *Gene Expr. Patterns* 6, 201–205.
- Hay, B., Ackerman, L., Barbel, S., Jan, L. Y. and Jan, Y. N. (1988). Identification of a component of Drosophila polar granules. *Development* 103, 625–640.

- He, S., Del Viso, F., Chen, C. Y., Ikmi, A., Kroesen, A. E. and Gibson, M. C. (2018). An axial Hox code controls tissue segmentation and body patterning in Nematostella vectensis. *Science* 361, 1377–1380.
- Hegner, R. W. (1908). Effects of Removing the Germ-Cell Determinants from the Eggs of Some Chrysomelid Beetles. Preliminary Report. *Biol. Bull.* 16, 19–26.
- Hegner, R. W. (1911). Germ-cell determinants and their significance. Am. Nat. 45, 385-397.
- Hegner, R. W. (1914). The Germ-cell Cycle in Animals. New York: Macmillan.
- Hemmrich, G., Khalturin, K., Boehm, A. M., Puchert, M., Anton-Erxleben, F., Wittlieb, J., Klostermeier, U. C., Rosenstiel, P., Oberg, H. H., Domazet-Lošo, T., et al. (2012). Molecular signatures of the three stem cell lineages in hydra and the emergence of stem cell function at the base of multicellularity. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 29, 3267–3280.
- Hobmayer, B., Jenewein, M., Eder, D., Eder, M.-K., Glasauer, S., Gufler, S., Hartl, M. and Salvenmoser, W. (2012). Stemness in Hydra - a current perspective. *Int. J. Dev. Biol.* 56, 509– 517.
- Hori, I. (1982). An Ultrastructural Study of the Chromatoid Body in Planarian Regenerative Cells. J. Electron Microsc. 31, 63–72.
- Houliston, E., Momose, T. and Manuel, M. (2010). Clytia hemisphaerica: a jellyfish cousin joins the laboratory. *Trends Genet.* 26, 159–167.
- Hsu, Y.-C., Li, L. and Fuchs, E. (2014). Transit-amplifying cells orchestrate stem cell activity and tissue regeneration. *Cell* 157, 935–949.
- Huang, H.-Y., Houwing, S., Kaaij, L. J. T., Meppelink, A., Redl, S., Gauci, S., Vos, H., Draper, B. W., Moens, C. B., Burgering, B. M., et al. (2011). Tdrd1 acts as a molecular scaffold for Piwi proteins and piRNA targets in zebrafish. *EMBO J.* 30, 3298–3308.
- Hulett, R. E., Kimura, J. O., Marcela Bolanos, D., Luo, Y.-J., Ricci, L. and Srivastava, M. (2022). Acoel single-cell atlas reveals expression dynamics and heterogeneity of a pluripotent stem cell population. *bioRxiv* 2022.02.10.479464.
- Ikmi, A., McKinney, S. A., Delventhal, K. M. and Gibson, M. C. (2014). TALEN and CRISPR/Cas9-mediated genome editing in the early-branching metazoan Nematostella vectensis. *Nat. Commun.* 5, 5486.
- Jager, M., Chiori, R., Alié, A., Dayraud, C., Quéinnec, E. and Manuel, M. (2011a). New insights on ctenophore neural anatomy: Immunofluorescence study in Pleurobrachia pileus (Müller, 1776). J. Exp. Zool. B Mol. Dev. Evol. 316B, 171–187.
- Jager, M., Quéinnec, E., Le Guyader, H. and Manuel, M. (2011b). Multiple Sox genes are expressed in stem cells or in differentiating neuro-sensory cells in the hydrozoan Clytia hemisphaerica. *Evodevo* 2, 12.
- Jahnel, S. M., Walzl, M. and Technau, U. (2014). Development and epithelial organisation of muscle cells in the sea anemone Nematostella vectensis. *Front. Zool.* 11, 1–15.

- Jaitin, D. A., Kenigsberg, E., Keren-Shaul, H., Elefant, N., Paul, F., Zaretsky, I., Mildner, A., Cohen, N., Jung, S., Tanay, A., et al. (2014). Massively parallel single-cell RNA-seq for marker-free decomposition of tissues into cell types. *Science* 343, 776–779.
- Janic, A., Mendizabal, L., Llamazares, S., Rossell, D. and Gonzalez, C. (2010). Ectopic expression of germline genes drives malignant brain tumor growth in Drosophila. *Science* 330, 1824– 1827.
- Jessus, C., Munro, C. and Houliston, E. (2020). Managing the Oocyte Meiotic Arrest-Lessons from Frogs and Jellyfish. *Cells* 9,.
- Johnstone, O. and Lasko, P. (2004). Interaction with eIF5B is essential for Vasa function during development. Development 131, 4167–4178.
- Juliano, C. E., Voronina, E., Stack, C., Aldrich, M., Cameron, A. R. and Wessel, G. M. (2006). Germ line determinants are not localized early in sea urchin development, but do accumulate in the small micromere lineage. *Dev. Biol.* 300, 406–415.
- Juliano, C. E., Swartz, S. Z. and Wessel, G. M. (2010). A conserved germline multipotency program. Development 137, 4113–4126.
- Juliano, C., Wang, J. and Lin, H. (2011). Uniting Germline and Stem Cells: the Function of Piwi Proteins and the piRNA Pathway in Diverse Organisms. *Annu. Rev. Genet.* 45, 1–26.
- Juliano, C. E., Reich, A., Liu, N., Götzfried, J., Zhong, M., Uman, S., Reenan, R. A., Wessel, G. M., Steele, R. E. and Lin, H. (2014). PIWI proteins and PIWI-interacting RNAs function in Hydra somatic stem cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 111, 337–342.
- Kadyrova, L. Y., Habara, Y., Lee, T. H. and Wharton, R. P. (2007). Translational control of maternal Cyclin B mRNA by Nanos in the Drosophila germline. *Development* 134, 1519– 1527.
- Kallos, M. S. ed. (2011). Embryonic stem cells basic biology to bioengineering. InTech.
- Kapli, P. and Telford, M. J. (2020). Topology-dependent asymmetry in systematic errors affects phylogenetic placement of Ctenophora and Xenacoelomorpha. *Sci. Adv.* 6, eabc5162.
- Kawamura, K. and Sunanaga, T. (2011). Role of Vasa, Piwi, and Myc-expressing coelomic cells in gonad regeneration of the colonial tunicate, Botryllus primigenus. *Mech. Dev.* 128, 457–470.
- Kerner, P., Degnan, S. M., Marchand, L., Degnan, B. M. and Vervoort, M. (2011). Evolution of RNA-binding proteins in animals: insights from genome-wide analysis in the sponge Amphimedon queenslandica. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 28, 2289–2303.
- Kerr, C. L., Bol, G. M., Vesuna, F. and Raman, V. (2019). Targeting RNA helicase DDX3 in stem cell maintenance and teratoma formation. *Genes Cancer* 10, 11–20.
- Kim, K. W. (2019). PIWI Proteins and piRNAs in the Nervous System. Mol. Cells 42, 828-835.
- Kimura, J. O., Bolaños, D. M., Ricci, L. and Srivastava, M. (2022). Embryonic origins of adult pluripotent stem cells. *Cell* 185, 4756-4769.e13.

- Kirino, Y., Vourekas, A., Kim, N., de Lima Alves, F., Rappsilber, J., Klein, P. S., Jongens, T. A. and Mourelatos, Z. (2010). Arginine methylation of Vasa protein is conserved across phyla. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 8148–8154.
- Kloc, M., Bilinski, S. and Etkin, L. D. (2004). The Balbiani body and germ cell determinants: 150 years later. Curr. Top. Dev. Biol. 59, 1–36.
- Kloc, M., Jedrzejowska, I., Tworzydlo, W. and Bilinski, S. M. (2014). Balbiani body, nuage and sponge bodies--term plasm pathway players. *Arthropod Struct. Dev.* 43, 341–348.
- Koizumi, O. and Bode, H. R. (1991). Plasticity in the nervous system of adult hydra. III. Conversion of neurons to expression of a vasopressin-like immunoreactivity depends on axial location. J. Neurosci. 11, 2011–2020.
- Koizumi, O., Heimfeld, S. and Bode, H. R. (1988). Plasticity in the nervous system of adult hydra. *Dev. Biol.* **129**, 358–371.
- Kostyuchenko, R. P. (2022). Nanos Is Expressed in Somatic and Germline Tissue during Larval and Post-Larval Development of the Annelid Alitta virens. *Genes* 13,.
- Kotaja, N. and Sassone-Corsi, P. (2007). The chromatoid body: a germ-cell-specific RNA-processing centre. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 8, 85–90.
- Kotani, M., Ikenishi, K. and Tanabe, K. (1973). Cortical granules remaining after fertilization in Xenopus laevis. Dev. Biol. 30, 228–232.
- Kukhanova, M. K., Karpenko, I. L. and Ivanov, A. V. (2020). DEAD-box RNA Helicase DDX3: Functional Properties and Development of DDX3 Inhibitors as Antiviral and Anticancer Drugs. *Molecules* 25,.
- Künzel, T., Heiermann, R., Frank, U., Müller, W., Tilmann, W., Bause, M., Nonn, A., Helling, M., Schwarz, R. S. and Plickert, G. (2010). Migration and differentiation potential of stem cells in the cnidarian Hydractinia analysed in eGFP-transgenic animals and chimeras. *Dev. Biol.* 348, 120–129.
- Kuramochi-Miyagawa, S., Kimura, T., Ijiri, T. W., Isobe, T., Asada, N., Fujita, Y., Ikawa, M., Iwai, N., Okabe, M., Deng, W., et al. (2004). Mili, a mammalian member of piwi family gene, is essential for spermatogenesis. *Development* 131, 839–849.
- Lai, A. G. and Aboobaker, A. A. (2018). EvoRegen in animals: Time to uncover deep conservation or convergence of adult stem cell evolution and regenerative processes. *Dev. Biol.* 433, 118– 131.
- Lavrov, A. I., Bolshakov, F. V., Tokina, D. B. and Ereskovsky, A. V. (2018). Sewing up the wounds : The epithelial morphogenesis as a central mechanism of calcaronean sponge regeneration. J. Exp. Zool. B Mol. Dev. Evol. 330, 351–371.
- Layden, M. J., Rentzsch, F. and Röttinger, E. (2016). The rise of the starlet sea anemone Nematostella vectensis as a model system to investigate development and regeneration. *Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Dev. Biol.* 3,.
- Lebouvier, M. (2021). Food uptake, lipid transport and vitellogenesis in the sea anemone Nematostella vectensis.

- Lebouvier, M., Miramón-Puértolas, P. and Steinmetz, P. R. H. (2022). Evolutionarily conserved aspects of animal nutrient uptake and transport in sea anemone vitellogenesis. *Curr. Biol.*
- Leclère, L., Jager, M., Barreau, C., Chang, P., Le Guyader, H. H. H., Manuel, M. M. M. and Houliston, E. (2012). Maternally localized germ plasm mRNAs and germ cell/stem cell formation in the cnidarian Clytia. *Dev. Biol.* 364, 236–248.
- Lee, E. J., Banerjee, S., Zhou, H., Jammalamadaka, A., Arcila, M., Manjunath, B. S. and Kosik, K. S. (2011). Identification of piRNAs in the central nervous system. *RNA* 17, 1090–1099.
- Lehmann, R. (2012). Germline stem cells: origin and destiny. Cell Stem Cell 10, 729-739.
- Lemaître, Q. I. B., Bartsch, N., Kouzel, I. U., Busengdal, H., Richards, G. S., Steinmetz, P. R. H. and Rentzsch, F. (2022). NvPrdm14d-expressing neural progenitor cells contribute to nonectodermal neurogenesis in Nematostella vectensis. *bioRxiv* 2022.07.06.498948.
- Lenormand, T., Engelstädter, J., Johnston, S. E., Wijnker, E. and Haag, C. R. (2016). Evolutionary mysteries in meiosis. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 371, 20160001.
- Leonard, J. and Cordoba-Aguilar, A. eds. (2011). The evolution of primary sexual characters in animals. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Li, D., Taylor, D. H. and van Wolfswinkel, J. C. (2021). PIWI-mediated control of tissue-specific transposons is essential for somatic cell differentiation. *Cell Rep.* 37, 109776.
- Lim, R. S. M., Anand, A., Nishimiya-Fujisawa, C., Kobayashi, S. and Kai, T. (2014). Analysis of Hydra PIWI proteins and piRNAs uncover early evolutionary origins of the piRNA pathway. *Dev. Biol.* 386, 237–251.
- Lin, H. (2012). Capturing the cloud: UAP56 in nuage assembly and function. Cell 151, 699-701.
- Linder, P. and Jankowsky, E. (2011). From unwinding to clamping the DEAD box RNA helicase family. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 12, 505–516.
- Linder, P. and Lasko, P. (2006). Bent out of shape: RNA unwinding by the DEAD-box helicase Vasa. *Cell* **125**, 219–221.
- Littlefield, C. L. (1985). Germ cells in Hydra oligactis males. I. Isolation of a subpopulation of interstitial cells that is developmentally restricted to sperm production. *Dev. Biol.* 112, 185– 193.
- Littlefield, C. L. (1991). Cell lineages in Hydra: Isolation and characterization of an interstitial stem cell restricted to egg production in Hydra oligactis. *Dev. Biol.* 143, 378–388.
- Liu, N., Han, H. and Lasko, P. (2009). Vasa promotes Drosophila germline stem cell differentiation by activating mei-P26 translation by directly interacting with a (U)-rich motif in its 3' UTR. *Genes Dev.* 23, 2742–2752.
- Livet, J., Weissman, T. A., Kang, H., Draft, R. W., Lu, J., Bennis, R. A., Sanes, J. R. and Lichtman, J. W. (2007). Transgenic strategies for combinatorial expression of fluorescent proteins in the nervous system. *Nature* 450, 56–62.

- López-Nandam, E. H., Albright, R., Hanson, E. A., Sheets, E. A. and Palumbi, S. R. (2021). Mutations in coral soma and sperm imply lifelong stem cell differentiation. *bioRxiv* 2021.07.20.453148.
- MacCord, K. and Duygu Ozpolat, B. (2019). Is the Germline Immortal and Continuous? A Discussion in Light of iPSCs and Germline Regeneration. Zenodo.
- Magie, C. R., Daly, M. and Martindale, M. Q. (2007). Gastrulation in the cnidarian Nematostella vectensis occurs via invagination not ingression. *Dev. Biol.* 305, 483–497.
- Magnúsdóttir, E., Dietmann, S., Murakami, K., Günesdogan, U., Tang, F., Bao, S., Diamanti, E., Lao, K., Gottgens, B. and Azim Surani, M. (2013). A tripartite transcription factor network regulates primordial germ cell specification in mice. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 15, 905–915.
- Mahowald, A. P. (1962). Fine structure of pole cells and polar granules in Drosophila melanogaster. J. Exp. Zool. 151, 201–215.
- Mahowald, A. P. (1968). Polar granules of Drosophila. II. Ultrastructural changes during early embryogenesis. J. Exp. Zool. 167, 237–261.
- Mahowald, A. P. (1971a). Origin and Continuity of Polar Granules. In Origin and Continuity of Cell Organelles (ed. Reinert, J.) and Ursprung, H.), pp. 158–169. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Mahowald, A. P. (1971b). Polar granules of Drosophila. 3. The continuity of polar granules during the life cycle of Drosophila. J. Exp. Zool. 176, 329–343.
- Malcolm Shick, J. (2012). A Functional Biology of Sea Anemones. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Manni, L., Anselmi, C., Cima, F., Gasparini, F., Voskoboynik, A., Martini, M., Peronato, A., Burighel, P., Zaniolo, G. and Ballarin, L. (2019). Sixty years of experimental studies on the blastogenesis of the colonial tunicate Botryllus schlosseri. *Dev. Biol.* 448, 293–308.
- Martell, L., Piraino, S., Gravili, C. and Boero, F. (2016). Life cycle, morphology and medusa ontogenesis of Turritopsis dohrnii (Cnidaria: Hydrozoa). *Ital. J. Zool. (Modena)* 83, 390–399.
- Martinez, P., Ballarin, L., Ereskovsky, A. V., Gazave, E., Hobmayer, B., Manni, L., Rottinger, E., Sprecher, S. G., Tiozzo, S., Varela-Coelho, A., et al. (2022). Articulating the "stem cell niche" paradigm through the lens of non-model aquatic invertebrates. *BMC Biol.* 20, 23.
- Mathioudakis, N., Palencia, A., Kadlec, J., Round, A., Tripsianes, K., Sattler, M., Pillai, R. S. and Cusack, S. (2012). The multiple Tudor domain-containing protein TDRD1 is a molecular scaffold for mouse Piwi proteins and piRNA biogenesis factors. *RNA* 18, 2056–2072.
- Mayorova, T. D., Hammar, K., Jung, J. H., Aronova, M. A., Zhang, G., Winters, C. A., Reese, T. S. and Smith, C. L. (2021). Placozoan fiber cells: mediators of innate immunity and participants in wound healing. *Sci. Rep.* 11, 23343.
- Megosh, H. B., Cox, D. N., Campbell, C. and Lin, H. (2006). The role of PIWI and the miRNA machinery in Drosophila germline determination. *Curr. Biol.* 16, 1884–1894.
- Meikar, O., Da Ros, M., Korhonen, H. and Kotaja, N. (2011). Chromatoid body and small RNAs in male germ cells. *Reproduction* 142, 195–209.

- Meikar, O., Vagin, V. V., Chalmel, F., Söstar, K., Lardenois, A., Hammell, M., Jin, Y., Da Ros, M., Wasik, K. A., Toppari, J., et al. (2014). An atlas of chromatoid body components. *RNA* 20, 483–495.
- Mikkelsen, T. S., Hanna, J., Zhang, X., Ku, M., Wernig, M., Schorderet, P., Bernstein, B. E., Jaenisch, R., Lander, E. S. and Meissner, A. (2008). Dissecting direct reprogramming through integrative genomic analysis. *Nature* 454, 49–55.
- Milani, L., Pecci, A., Ghiselli, F., Passamonti, M., Bettini, S., Franceschini, V. and Maurizii, M.
 G. (2017). VASA expression suggests shared germ line dynamics in bivalve molluscs. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 148, 157–171.
- Mochizuki, K., Sano, H., Kobayashi, S., Nishimiya-Fujisawa, C. and Fujisawa, T. (2000). Expression and evolutionary conservation of nanos-related genes in Hydra. *Dev. Genes Evol.* 210, 591–602.
- Mochizuki, K., Nishimiya-Fujisawa, C. and Fujisawa, T. (2001). Universal occurrence of the vasa -related genes among metazoans and their germline expression in Hydra. *Dev. Genes Evol.* 211, 299–308.
- Mochizuki, K., Fine, N. A., Fujisawa, T. and Gorovsky, M. A. (2002). Analysis of a piwi-related gene implicates small RNAs in genome rearrangement in tetrahymena. *Cell* 110, 689–699.
- Moiseeva, E., Rabinowitz, C., Paz, G. and Rinkevich, B. (2017). Histological study on maturation, fertilization and the state of gonadal region following spawning in the model sea anemone, Nematostella vectensis. *PLoS One* 12, e0182677.
- Molina, M. D. and Cebrià, F. (2021). Decoding stem cells: An overview on planarian stem cell heterogeneity and lineage progression. *Biomolecules* 11, 1532.
- Mulhair, P. O., McCarthy, C. G. P., Siu-Ting, K., Creevey, C. J. and O'Connell, M. J. (2022). Filtering artifactual signal increases support for Xenacoelomorpha and Ambulacraria sister relationship in the animal tree of life. *Curr. Biol.* 32, 5180-5188.e3.
- Müller, W. A. and Leitz, T. (2002). Metamorphosis in the Cnidaria. Can. J. Zool. 80, 1755–1771.
- Müller, W. A., Teo, R. and Frank, U. (2004). Totipotent migratory stem cells in a hydroid. Dev. Biol. 275, 215–224.
- Nakahata, S., Katsu, Y., Mita, K., Inoue, K., Nagahama, Y. and Yamashita, M. (2001). Biochemical Identification of Xenopus Pumilio as a Sequence-specific Cyclin B1 mRNAbinding Protein That Physically Interacts with a Nanos Homolog, Xcat-2, and a Cytoplasmic Polyadenylation Element-binding Protein. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 20945–20953.
- Nakanishi, N., Renfer, E., Technau, U. and Rentzsch, F. (2012). Nervous systems of the sea anemone Nematostella vectensis are generated by ectoderm and endoderm and shaped by distinct mechanisms. *Development* 139, 347–357.
- Nishimiya-Fujisawa, C. and Kobayashi, S. (2012). Germline stem cells and sex determination in Hydra. *Int. J. Dev. Biol.* 56, 499–508.
- Nishimiya-Fujisawa C. and Sugiyama, T. (1993). Genetic analysis of de- velopmental mechanisms in hydra. XX. Cloning of interstitial stem cells restricted to the sperm differentiation pathway in Hydra magnipapillata. *Dev. Biol.* 157, 1–9.

- Noda, K. and Kanai, C. (1977). An ultrastructural observation on Pelmatohydra robusta at sexual and asexual stages, with a special reference to "Germinal plasm." J. Ultrastruct. Res. 61, 284–294.
- Oviedo, N. J. and Beane, W. S. (2009). Regeneration: The origin of cancer or a possible cure? Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 20, 557–564.
- Özpolat, B. D. and Bely, A. E. (2015). Gonad establishment during asexual reproduction in the annelid Pristina leidyi. *Dev. Biol.* 405, 123–136.
- Page, S. L. and Hawley, R. S. (2003). Chromosome Choreography: The Meiotic Ballet. Science 301, 785–789.
- Palakodeti, D., Smielewska, M., Lu, Y.-C., Yeo, G. W. and Graveley, B. R. (2008). The PIWI proteins SMEDWI-2 and SMEDWI-3 are required for stem cell function and piRNA expression in planarians. RNA 14, 1174–1186.
- Pang, K., Ryan, J. F., NISC Comparative Sequencing Program, Mullikin, J. C., Baxevanis, A. D. and Martindale, M. Q. (2010). Genomic insights into Wnt signaling in an early diverging metazoan, the ctenophore Mnemiopsis leidyi. *Evodevo* 1, 10.
- Parisi, M. and Lin, H. (1999). The Drosophila pumilio gene encodes two functional protein isoforms that play multiple roles in germline development, gonadogenesis, oogenesis and embryogenesis. *Genetics* 153, 235–250.
- Parvinen, M. (2005). The chromatoid body in spermatogenesis. Int. J. Androl. 28, 189-201.
- Passamaneck, Y. J. and Martindale, M. Q. (2012). Cell proliferation is necessary for the regeneration of oral structures in the anthozoan cnidarian Nematostella vectensis. *BMC Dev. Biol.* 12, 34.
- Pathak, S. and Banerjee, A. eds. (2021). Stem Cells and Aging. San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Pepling, M. E., Wilhelm, J. E., O'Hara, A. L., Gephardt, G. W. and Spradling, A. C. (2007). Mouse oocytes within germ cell cysts and primordial follicles contain a Balbiani body. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 104, 187–192.
- Perfetto, M., Xu, X., Lu, C., Shi, Y., Yousaf, N., Li, J., Yien, Y. Y. and Wei, S. (2021). The RNA helicase DDX3 induces neural crest by promoting AKT activity. *Development* 148,.
- Perillo, M., Swartz, S. Z. and Wessel, G. M. (2021). A conserved node in the regulation of Vasa between an induced and an inherited program of primordial germ cell specification. *Dev. Biol.*
- Philippe, H., Poustka, A. J., Chiodin, M., Hoff, K. J., Dessimoz, C., Tomiczek, B., Schiffer, P. H., Müller, S., Domman, D., Horn, M., et al. (2019). Mitigating anticipated effects of systematic errors supports sister-group relationship between Xenacoelomorpha and Ambulacraria. *Curr. Biol.* 29, 1818-1826.e6.
- Piraino, S., Boero, F., Aeschbach, B. and Schmid, V. (1996). Reversing the Life Cycle: Medusae Transforming into Polyps and Cell Transdifferentiation in Turritopsis nutricula (Cnidaria, Hydrozoa). *Biol. Bull.* **190**, 302–312.
- Plickert, G., Frank, U. and Müller, W. A. (2012). Hydractinia, a pioneering model for stem cell biology and reprogramming somatic cells to pluripotency. *Int. J. Dev. Biol.* 56,.

- Poon, J., Wessel, G. M. and Yajima, M. (2016). An unregulated regulator: Vasa expression in the development of somatic cells and in tumorigenesis. *Dev. Biol.* 415, 24–32.
- Praher, D., Zimmermann, B., Genikhovich, G., Columbus-Shenkar, Y., Modepalli, V., Aharoni, R., Moran, Y. and Technau, U. (2017). Characterization of the piRNA pathway during development of the sea anemone Nematostella vectensis. *RNA Biol.* 6286, 00–00.
- Pryszlak, M., Wiggans, M., Chen, X., Jaramillo, J. E., Burns, S. E., Richards, L. M., Pugh, T. J., Kaplan, D. R., Huang, X., Dirks, P. B., et al. (2021). The DEAD-box helicase DDX56 is a conserved stemness regulator in normal and cancer stem cells. *Cell Rep.* 34, 108903.
- Putnam, N. H., Srivastava, M., Hellsten, U., Dirks, B., Chapman, J., Salamov, A., Terry, A., Shapiro, H., Lindquist, E., Kapitonov, V. V., et al. (2007). Sea anemone genome reveals ancestral eumetazoan gene repertoire and genomic organization. *Science* 317, 86–94.
- Qiu, G.-F., Chen, Y., Cui, Z. and Zhu, X.-L. (2013). Localization of germline marker vasa homolog RNA to a single blastomere at early cleavage stages in the oriental river prawn Macrobrachium nipponense: evidence for germ cell specification by preformation. *Gene* 513, 53–62.
- Quan, H. and Lynch, J. A. (2016). The evolution of insect germline specification strategies. Curr Opin Insect Sci 13, 99–105.
- Ramesh, M., Malik, S. and Logsdon, J. (2005). A phylogenomic inventory of meiotic genes: evidence for sex in Giardia and an early eukaryotic origin of meiosis. *Curr. Biol.* 15, 185–191.
- Ramon-Mateu, J., Ellison, S. T., Angelini, T. E. and Martindale, M. Q. (2019). Regeneration in the ctenophore Mnemiopsis leidyi occurs in the absence of a blastema, requires cell division, and is temporally separable from wound healing. *BMC Biol.* 17, 80.
- Raz, E. (2000). The function and regulation of vasa-like genes in germ-cell development. *Genome Biol.* 1, REVIEWS1017.
- Raz, A. A. and Yamashita, Y. M. (2021). Molding immortality from a plastic germline. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 73, 1–8.
- Rebscher, N., Volk, C., Teo, R. and Plickert, G. (2008). The germ plasm component vasa allows tracing of the interstitial stem cells in the cnidarian Hydractinia echinata. *Dev. Dyn.* 237, 1736– 1745.
- Rebscher, N., Lidke, A. and Ackermann, C. (2012). Hidden in the crowd: primordial germ cells and somatic stem cells in the mesodermal posterior growth zone of the polychaete Platynereis dumerillii are two distinct cell populations. *Evodevo* 3, 9.
- Reddien, P. W., Oviedo, N. J., Jennings, J. R., Jenkin, J. C. and Sánchez Alvarado, A. (2005). SMEDWI-2 is a PIWI-like protein that regulates planarian stem cells. *Science* 310, 1327–1330.
- Redmond, A. K. and McLysaght, A. (2021). Evidence for sponges as sister to all other animals from partitioned phylogenomics with mixture models and recoding. *Nat. Commun.* 12, 1–14.
- Reitzel, A. M., Burton, P. M., Krone, C. and Finnerty, J. R. (2007). Comparison of developmental trajectories in the starlet sea anemone Nematostella vectensis: embryogenesis, regeneration, and two forms of asexual fission. *Invertebr. Biol.* 126, 99–112.

- Reitzel, A. M., Pang, K. and Martindale, M. Q. (2016). Developmental expression of "germline"and "sex determination"-related genes in the ctenophore Mnemiopsis leidyi. *Evodevo* 7, 17.
- Rentzsch, F., Fritzenwanker, J. H., Scholz, C. B. and Technau, U. (2008). FGF signalling controls formation of the apical sensory organ in the cnidarian Nematostella vectensis. *Development* 135, 1761–1769.
- Richards, G. S. and Rentzsch, F. (2014). Transgenic analysis of a SoxB gene reveals neural progenitor cells in the cnidarian Nematostella vectensis. *Development* 141, 4681–4689.
- Richardson, B. E. and Lehmann, R. (2010). Mechanisms guiding primordial germ cell migration: strategies from different organisms. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 11, 37–49.
- Rinkevich, Y., Voskoboynik, A., Rosner, A., Rabinowitz, C., Paz, G., Oren, M., Douek, J., Alfassi, G., Moiseeva, E., Ishizuka, K. J., et al. (2013). Repeated, long-term cycling of putative stem cells between niches in a basal chordate. *Dev. Cell* 24, 76–88.
- Rinkevich, B., Ballarin, L., Martinez, P., Somorjai, I., Ben-Hamo, O., Borisenko, I., Berezikov, E., Ereskovsky, A., Gazave, E., Khnykin, D., et al. (2022). A pan-metazoan concept for adult stem cells: the wobbling Penrose landscape. *Biol. Rev. Camb. Philos. Soc.* 97, 299–325.
- Roberts-Galbraith, R. H. and Newmark, P. A. (2015). On the organ trail: insights into organ regeneration in the planarian. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* **32**, 37–46.
- Romanova, D. Y., Nikitin, M. A., Shchenkov, S. V. and Moroz, L. L. (2022). Expanding of life strategies in Placozoa: Insights from long-term culturing of Trichoplax and Hoilungia. *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* 0,.
- Rosental, B., Kowarsky, M., Seita, J., Corey, D. M., Ishizuka, K. J., Palmeri, K. J., Chen, S.-Y., Sinha, R., Okamoto, J., Mantalas, G., et al. (2018). Complex mammalian-like haematopoietic system found in a colonial chordate. *Nature* 564, 425–429.
- Rosner, A., Moiseeva, E., Rinkevich, Y., Lapidot, Z. and Rinkevich, B. (2009). Vasa and the germ line lineage in a colonial urochordate. *Dev. Biol.* 331, 113–128.
- Ross, R. J., Weiner, M. M. and Lin, H. (2014). PIWI proteins and PIWI-interacting RNAs in the soma. *Nature* 505, 353–359.
- Rossi, L. and Salvetti, A. (2019). Planarian stem cell niche, the challenge for understanding tissue regeneration. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.* 87, 30–36.
- Röttinger, E. (2021). Nematostella vectensis, an Emerging Model for Deciphering the Molecular and Cellular Mechanisms Underlying Whole-Body Regeneration. *Cells* 10,.
- Rouget, C., Papin, C., Boureux, A., Meunier, A.-C., Franco, B., Robine, N., Lai, E. C., Pelisson, A. and Simonelig, M. (2010). Maternal mRNA deadenylation and decay by the piRNA pathway in the early Drosophila embryo. *Nature* 467, 1128–1132.
- Roussell, D. L. and Bennett, K. L. (1992). CaenorhabditiscDNA encodes an elF-4A-like protein. Nucleic Acids Res. 20, 3783–3783.
- Ruppert, E. E., Fox, R. S. and Barnes, R. D. (2004). *Invertebrate zoology : a functional evolutionary approach*. Thomson-Brooks/Cole.

- Sagata, N., Okuyama, K. and Yamana, K. (1981). Localization and segregation of maternal RNA's during early cleavage of Xenopus laevis embryos. *Dev. Growth Differ.* 23, 23–32.
- Salvetti, A., Rossi, L., Lena, A., Batistoni, R., Deri, P., Rainaldi, G., Locci, M. T., Evangelista, M. and Gremigni, V. (2005). DjPum, a homologue of Drosophila Pumilio, is essential to planarian stem cell maintenance. *Development* 132, 1863–1874.
- Satija, R., Farrell, J. A., Gennert, D., Schier, A. F. and Regev, A. (2015). Spatial reconstruction of single-cell gene expression data. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 33, 495–502.
- Schwager, E. E., Meng, Y. and Extavour, C. G. (2015). vasa and piwi are required for mitotic integrity in early embryogenesis in the spider Parasteatoda tepidariorum. *Dev. Biol.* 402, 276– 290.
- Sebé-Pedrós, A., Saudemont, B., Chomsky, E., Plessier, F., Mailhé, M. P., Renno, J., Loe-Mie, Y., Lifshitz, A., Mukamel, Z., Schmutz, S., et al. (2018). Cnidarian Cell Type Diversity and Regulation Revealed by Whole-Organism Single-Cell RNA-Seq. Cell 173, 1520-1534.e20.
- Seervai, R. N. H. and Wessel, G. M. (2013). Lessons for inductive germline determination. Mol. Reprod. Dev. 80, 590–609.
- Seipel, K., Yanze, N. and Schmid, V. (2004). The germ line and somatic stem cell gene Cniwi in the jellyfish Podocoryne carnea. *Int. J. Dev. Biol.* 48, 1–7.
- Sharma, D. and Jankowsky, E. (2014). The Ded1/DDX3 subfamily of DEAD-box RNA helicases. Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 49, 343–360.
- Sharma, A. K., Nelson, M. C., Brandt, J. E., Wessman, M., Mahmud, N., Weller, K. P. and Hoffman, R. (2001). Human CD34(+) stem cells express the hiwi gene, a human homologue of the Drosophila gene piwi. *Blood* 97, 426–434.
- Shibata, N., Umesono, Y., Orii, H., Sakurai, T., Watanabe, K. and Agata, K. (1999). Expression of vasa(vas)-related genes in germline cells and totipotent somatic stem cells of planarians. *Dev. Biol.* 206, 73–87.
- Shick, J. M. (1991). Functional biology of sea anemones. (ed. Shick, J. M.) London, England: Chapman and Hall.
- Shikina, S. and Chang, C.-F. (2016). Sexual reproduction in stony corals and insight into the evolution of oogenesis in Cnidaria. In *The Cnidaria, Past, Present and Future*, pp. 249–268. Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Shikina, S., Chen, C. J., Liou, J. Y., Shao, Z. F., Chung, Y. J., Lee, Y. H. and Chang, C. F. (2012). Germ cell development in the scleractinian coral Euphyllia ancora (Cnidaria, anthozoa). *PLoS One* 7, 1–12.
- Shikina, S., Chung, Y. J., Wang, H. M., Chiu, Y. L., Shao, Z. F., Lee, Y. H. and Chang, C. F. (2015). Localization of early germ cells in a stony coral, Euphyllia ancora: potential implications for a germline stem cell system in coral gametogenesis. *Coral Reefs* 34, 639–653.
- Shimaoka, K., Mukumoto, Y., Tanigawa, Y. and Komiya, T. (2017). Xenopus Vasa homolog XVLG1 is essential for migration and survival of primordial germ cells. *Zoolog. Sci.* 34, 93– 104.

- Shirae-Kurabayashi, M. and Nakamura, A. (2018). Germ-Cell Formation in Solitary Ascidians: Coexistence of Preformation and Epigenesis. In *Reproductive and Developmental Strategies: The Continuity of Life* (ed. Kobayashi, K.), Kitano, T.), Iwao, Y.), and Kondo, M.), pp. 3–18. Tokyo: Springer Japan.
- Siebert, S., Anton-Erxleben, F. and Bosch, T. C. G. (2008). Cell type complexity in the basal metazoan Hydra is maintained by both stem cell based mechanisms and transdifferentiation. *Dev. Biol.* 313, 13–24.
- Siebert, S., Goetz, F. E., Church, S. H., Bhattacharyya, P., Zapata, F., Haddock, S. H. D. and Dunn, C. W. (2015). Stem cells in Nanomia bijuga (Siphonophora), a colonial animal with localized growth zones. *Evodevo* 6, 22.
- Siebert, S., Farrell, J. A., Cazet, J. F., Abeykoon, Y., Primack, A. S., Schnitzler, C. E. and Juliano, C. E. (2019). Stem cell differentiation trajectories in Hydra resolved at single-cell resolution. *Science* 365,.
- Signorovitch, A. Y., Dellaporta, S. L. and Buss, L. W. (2005). Molecular signatures for sex in the Placozoa. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102, 15518–15522.
- Simion, P., Philippe, H., Baurain, D., Jager, M., Richter, D. J., Di Franco, A., Roure, B., Satoh, N., Quéinnec, É., Ereskovsky, A., et al. (2017). A Large and Consistent Phylogenomic Dataset Supports Sponges as the Sister Group to All Other Animals. *Curr. Biol.* 27, 958–967.
- Söderström, K. O. (1981). The relationship between the nuage and the chromatid body during spermatogenesis in the rat. *Cell Tissue Res.* 215, 425–430.
- Solana, J. (2013). Closing the circle of germline and stem cells: The Primordial Stem Cell hypothesis. *Evodevo* 4, 1.
- Solana, J. and Romero, R. (2009). SpolvlgA is a DDX3/PL10-related DEAD-box RNA helicase expressed in blastomeres and embryonic cells in planarian embryonic development. *Int. J. Biol. Sci.* 5, 64–73.
- Sonoda, J. and Wharton, R. P. (1999). Recruitment of Nanos to hunchback mRNA by Pumilio. *Genes Dev.* 13, 2704–2712.
- Spassov, D. S. and Jurecic, R. (2003). Mouse Pum1 and Pum2 genes, members of the Pumilio family of RNA-binding proteins, show differential expression in fetal and adult hematopoietic stem cells and progenitors. *Blood Cells Mol. Dis.* **30**, 55–69.
- Spike, C., Meyer, N., Racen, E., Orsborn, A., Kirchner, J., Kuznicki, K., Yee, C., Bennett, K. and Strome, S. (2008). Genetic analysis of the Caenorhabditis elegans GLH family of P-granule proteins. *Genetics* 178, 1973–1987.
- Srivastava, M. (2022). Studying development, regeneration, stem cells, and more in the acoel Hofstenia miamia. Curr. Top. Dev. Biol. 147, 153–172.
- Srivastava, M., Mazza-Curll, K. L., van Wolfswinkel, J. C. and Reddien, P. W. (2014). Wholebody acoel regeneration is controlled by Wnt and Bmp-Admp signaling. *Curr. Biol.* 24, 1107– 1113.

- Steger, J., Cole, A. G., Denner, A., Lebedeva, T., Genikhovich, G., Ries, A., Reischl, R., Taudes, E., Lassnig, M. and Technau, U. (2022). Single-cell transcriptomics identifies conserved regulators of neuroglandular lineages. *Cell Rep.* 40,.
- Steinmetz, P. R. H. (2019). A non-bilaterian perspective on the development and evolution of animal digestive systems. *Cell Tissue Res.* 377, 321–339.
- Steinmetz, P. R. H., Aman, A., Kraus, J. E. M. M. and Technau, U. (2017). Gut-like ectodermal tissue in a sea anemone challenges germ layer homology. *Nature Ecology & Evolution* 1, 0–1.
- Strome, S. and Updike, D. (2015). Specifying and protecting germ cell fate. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 16, 406–416.
- Styhler, S., Nakamura, A., Swan, A., Suter, B. and Lasko, P. (1998). vasa is required for GURKEN accumulation in the oocyte, and is involved in oocyte differentiation and germline cyst development. *Development* 125, 1569–1578.
- Subramoniam, T. (2018). Mode of reproduction: Invertebrate animals. In Encyclopedia of Reproduction, pp. 32–40. Elsevier.
- Sugio, M., Takeuchi, K., Kutsuna, J., Tadokoro, R., Takahashi, Y., Yoshida-Noro, C. and Tochinai, S. (2008). Exploration of embryonic origins of germline stem cells and neoblasts in Enchytraeus japonensis (Oligochaeta, Annelida). *Gene Expr. Patterns* 8, 227–236.
- Sunanaga, T., Inubushi, H. and Kawamura, K. (2010). Piwi-expressing hemoblasts serve as germline stem cells during postembryonic germ cell specification in colonial ascidian, Botryllus primigenus. *Dev. Growth Differ.* 52, 603–614.
- Suzuki, H., Jin, Y., Otani, H., Yasuda, K. and Inoue, K. (2002). Regulation of alternative splicing of alpha-actinin transcript by Bruno-like proteins. *Genes Cells* 7, 133–141.
- Takamura, K., Fujimura, M. and Yamaguchi, Y. (2002). Primordial germ cells originate from the endodermal strand cells in the ascidian Ciona intestinalis. *Dev. Genes Evol.* **212**, 11–18.
- Tanaka, E. M. and Reddien, P. W. (2011). The cellular basis for animal regeneration. Dev. Cell 21, 172–185.
- Tanaka, S. S., Toyooka, Y., Akasu, R., Katoh-Fukui, Y., Nakahara, Y., Suzuki, R., Yokoyama, M. and Noce, T. (2000). The mouse homolog of Drosophila Vasa is required for the development of male germ cells. *Genes Dev.* 14, 841–853.
- Tang, W. W. C., Kobayashi, T., Irie, N., Dietmann, S. and Surani, M. A. (2016). Specification and epigenetic programming of the human germ line. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 17, 585–600.
- Technau, U. and Steele, R. E. (2011). Evolutionary crossroads in developmental biology: Cnidaria. Development 138, 1447–1458.
- Teefy, B. B., Siebert, S., Cazet, J. F., Lin, H. and Juliano, C. E. (2019). PIWI-piRNA pathwaymediated transposable element repression in Hydra somatic stem cells. *bioRxiv* 1, 550–563.
- Thomson, T. and Lin, H. (2009). The biogenesis and function of PIWI proteins and piRNAs: progress and prospect. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 25, 355–376.

- Tóth, K. F., Pezic, D., Stuwe, E. and Webster, A. (2016). The piRNA Pathway Guards the Germline Genome Against Transposable Elements. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 886, 51–77.
- Tournière, O., Dolan, D., Richards, G. S., Sunagar, K., Columbus-Shenkar, Y. Y., Moran, Y. and Rentzsch, F. (2020). NvPOU4/Brain3 Functions as a Terminal Selector Gene in the Nervous System of the Cnidarian Nematostella vectensis. *Cell Rep.* **30**, 4473-4489.e5.
- Tournière, O., Busengdal, H., Gahan, J. M. and Rentzsch, F. (2021). Insm1-expressing neurons and secretory cells develop from a common pool of progenitors in the sea anemone Nematostella vectensis. *bioRxiv* 2021.04.09.439178.
- Tournière, O., Gahan, J. M., Busengdal, H., Bartsch, N. and Rentzsch, F. (2022). Insmlexpressing neurons and secretory cells develop from a common pool of progenitors in the sea anemone Nematostella vectensis. Sci Adv 8, eabi7109.
- Tucker, R. P., Shibata, B. and Blankenship, T. N. (2011). Ultrastructure of the mesoglea of the sea anemone Nematostella vectensis (Edwardsiidae). *Invertebr. Biol.* 130, 11–24.
- van Wolfswinkel, J. C. (2014). Piwi and potency: PIWI proteins in animal stem cells and regeneration. Integr. Comp. Biol. 54, 700–713.
- Van-Praët, M. (1985). Nutrition of sea anemones. Academic Press Inc. (London).
- Varley, A., Horkan, H. R., McMahon, E. T., Krasovec, G. and Frank, U. (2022). Pluripotent, germ cell competent adult stem cells underlie cnidarian plant-like life history. *bioRxiv* 2022.11.09.515637.
- Vasileva, A., Tiedau, D., Firooznia, A., Müller-Reichert, T. and Jessberger, R. (2009). Tdrd6 is required for spermiogenesis, chromatoid body architecture, and regulation of miRNA expression. *Curr. Biol.* 19, 630–639.
- Vasquez Kuntz, K. L., Kitchen, S. A., Conn, T. L., Vohsen, S. A., Chan, A. N., Vermeij, M. J. A., Page, C., Marhaver, K. L. and Baums, I. B. (2020). Juvenile corals inherit mutations acquired during the parent's lifespan. *bioRxiv*.
- Vila-Farré, M., Rozanski, A., Ivanković, M., Cleland, J., Brand, J. N., Thalen, F., Grohme, M., von Kannen, S., Grosbusch, A., Vu, H. T.-K., et al. (2022). Probing the evolutionary dynamics of whole-body regeneration within planarian flatworms. *bioRxiv* 2022.12.19.520916.
- Voronina, E., Lopez, M., Juliano, C. E., Gustafson, E., Song, J. L., Extavour, C., George, S., Oliveri, P., McClay, D. and Wessel, G. (2008). Vasa protein expression is restricted to the small micromeres of the sea urchin, but is inducible in other lineages early in development. *Dev. Biol.* 314, 276–286.
- Wagers, A. J. and Weissman, I. L. (2004). Plasticity of adult stem cells. Cell 116, 639-648.
- Wagner, D. E., Wang, I. E. and Reddien, P. W. (2011). Clonogenic neoblasts are pluripotent adult stem cells that underlie planarian regeneration. *Science* 332, 811–816.
- Wagner, D. E., Ho, J. J. and Reddien, P. W. (2012). Genetic regulators of a pluripotent adult stem cell system in planarians identified by RNAi and clonal analysis. *Cell Stem Cell* 10, 299–311.

- Wang, Z. and Lin, H. (2004). Nanos maintains germline stem cell self-renewal by preventing differentiation. *Science* 303, 2016–2019.
- Weidmann, C. A., Qiu, C., Arvola, R. M., Lou, T.-F., Killingsworth, J., Campbell, Z. T., Tanaka Hall, T. M. and Goldstrohm, A. C. (2016). Drosophila Nanos acts as a molecular clamp that modulates the RNA-binding and repression activities of Pumilio. *Elife* 5,.
- Weismann, A. (1883). Die Entstehung der Sexualzellen bei Hydromedusen (The origin of the sexual cells in hydromedusae). *Jena, Germany: Gustav Fischer*.
- Weismann, A. (1892). Das Keimplasma Eine Theorie der Vererbung. Jena: Fischer 47, 265–266.
- Weissman, T. A. and Pan, Y. A. (2015). Brainbow: new resources and emerging biological applications for multicolor genetic labeling and analysis. *Genetics* **199**, 293–306.
- Wen, L. and Tang, F. (2019). Human Germline Cell Development: from the Perspective of Single-Cell Sequencing. *Mol. Cell* 76, 320–328.
- Wessel, G. M., Brayboy, L., Fresques, T., Gustafson, E. A., Oulhen, N., Ramos, I., Reich, A., Swartz, S. Z., Yajima, M. and Zazueta, V. (2014). The biology of the germ line in echinoderms. *Mol. Reprod. Dev.* 81, 679–711.
- Wharton, R. P., Sonoda, J., Lee, T., Patterson, M. and Murata, Y. (1998). The Pumilio RNAbinding domain is also a translational regulator. *Mol. Cell* 1, 863–872.
- Whelan, N. V., Kocot, K. M., Moroz, L. L. and Halanych, K. M. (2015). Error, signal, and the placement of Ctenophora sister to all other animals. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 112, 5773– 5778.
- Whelan, N. V., Kocot, K. M., Moroz, T. P., Mukherjee, K., Williams, P., Paulay, G., Moroz, L. L. and Halanych, K. M. (2017). Ctenophore relationships and their placement as the sister group to all other animals. *Nat. Ecol. Evol.* 1, 1737–1746.
- Williams, M. A. and Smith, L. D. (1971). Ultrastructure of the "germinal plasm" during maturation and early cleavage in Rana pipiens. *Dev. Biol.* 25, 568–580.
- Williamson, A. and Lehmann, R. (1996). Germ cell development in Drosophila. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 12, 365–391.
- Wolf, N., Priess, J. and Hirsh, D. (1983). Segregation of germline granules in early embryos of Caenorhabditis elegans: an electron microscopic analysis. J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. 73, 297– 306.
- Xiol, J., Spinelli, P., Laussmann, M. A., Homolka, D., Yang, Z., Cora, E., Couté, Y., Conn, S., Kadlec, J., Sachidanandam, R., et al. (2014). RNA clamping by Vasa assembles a piRNA amplifier complex on transposon transcripts. *Cell* 157, 1698–1711.
- Yajima, M. and Wessel, G. M. (2011). The multiple hats of Vasa: its functions in the germline and in cell cycle progression. *Mol. Reprod. Dev.* 78, 861–867.
- Yajima, M. and Wessel, G. (2015). Broad functions for the "germ-line factor" vasa. Mol. Reprod. Dev. 82, 405–405.

- Yang, J., Spassov, D. S., Nachtman, R. G. and Jurecic, R. (2004). Pum2 Protein Supports Maintenance and Suppresses Differentiation of Multipotent Hematopoietic Progenitors by Regulating the Function and Activation of c-kit Receptor. *Blood* 104, 1692–1692.
- Zahr, S. K., Yang, G., Kazan, H., Borrett, M. J., Yuzwa, S. A., Voronova, A., Kaplan, D. R. and Miller, F. D. (2018). A Translational Repression Complex in Developing Mammalian Neural Stem Cells that Regulates Neuronal Specification. *Neuron* 97, 520-537.e6.
- Zakrzewski, W., Dobrzyński, M., Szymonowicz, M. and Rybak, Z. (2019). Stem cells: past, present, and future. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 10, 68.
- Zeng, A., Li, H., Guo, L., Gao, X., McKinney, S., Wang, Y., Yu, Z., Park, J., Semerad, C., Ross, E., et al. (2018). Prospectively Isolated Tetraspanin+ Neoblasts Are Adult Pluripotent Stem Cells Underlying Planaria Regeneration. *Cell* 173, 1593-1608.e20.
- Zhang, F., Wang, J., Xu, J., Zhang, Z., Koppetsch, B. S., Schultz, N., Vreven, T., Meignin, C., Davis, I., Zamore, P. D., et al. (2012). UAP56 couples piRNA clusters to the perinuclear transposon silencing machinery. *Cell* 151, 871–884.
- Zhang, M., Chen, D., Xia, J., Han, W., Cui, X., Neuenkirchen, N., Hermes, G., Sestan, N. and Lin, H. (2017). Post-transcriptional regulation of mouse neurogenesis by Pumilio proteins. *Genes Dev.* 31, 1354–1369.
- Zhao, P.-P., Yao, M.-J., Chang, S.-Y., Gou, L.-T., Liu, M.-F., Qiu, Z.-L. and Yuan, X.-B. (2015). Novel function of PIWIL1 in neuronal polarization and migration via regulation of microtubule-associated proteins. *Mol. Brain* 8, 39.
- Zhu, W., Pao, G. M., Satoh, A., Cummings, G., Monaghan, J. R., Harkins, T. T., Bryant, S. V., Randal Voss, S., Gardiner, D. M. and Hunter, T. (2012). Activation of germline-specific genes is required for limb regeneration in the Mexican axolotl. *Dev. Biol.* 370, 42–51.
- Zimmermann, B., Robb, S. M. C., Genikhovich, G., Fropf, W. J., Weilguny, L., He, S., Chen, S., Lovegrove-Walsh, J., Hill, E. M., Ragkousi, K., et al. (2020). Sea anemone genomes reveal ancestral metazoan chromosomal macrosynteny. *bioRxiv* 2020.10.30.359448.





uib.no

ISBN: 9788230858592 (print) 9788230862360 (PDF)